Metagenomic etiology and therapy in pediatric gastrointestinal inflammation

PhD thesis

Dorottya Nagy-Szakal MD

Semmelweis University Doctoral School of Clinical Medicine





Consultant: Dr. Vannay Ádám MD, PhD

Official reviewers: Dr. Bene László MD, PhD Dr. Müllner Katalin MD, PhD

Head of the Final Examination Committee:	Dr. Szabó András MD, PhD
Members of the Final Examination Committee:	Dr. Hegyi Péter MD, PhD
	Dr. Miheller Pál MD, PhD

Budapest 2017

"Research is what I am doing when I don't know what I am doing."

Wernher von Braun

Table of Contents

List o	f Abbreviations5
1 Iı	ntroduction
1.1	Nutritional developmental origins of disease hypothesis
1.2	What biologic systems can be modulated by the nutrition?
1.3	The Human Microbiome Project
1.4	The microbiome matures during pediatric development
1.5	The microbiome is nutritionally responsive
1.6	The human microbiome as an active metabolizer
1.7	Rapid microbiome responses to marked diet changes
1.8	The microbiome possesses compositional stability
1.9	The microbiome possesses metabolic stability
1.10	The dynamically changing microbiota throughout life stages
1.11	The role of host immunity and infections in the modulation of gut microbiota 14
1.12	Postnatal (pediatric) nutritional exposures affect intestinal inflammation and
	associate with IBD susceptibility
1.13	Cellulose supplementation early in life ameliorates acute colitis in adult mice 17
1.14	Loss of omega-6 fatty acid induced pediatric obesity protects against acute murine
	colitis
1.15	Dysbiosis-associated gastrointestinal disorders and future therapeutic options 18
1.16	The manipulation of microbiota as a possible therapeutic option in pediatric GI
	disorders
1.17	CDIF and FMT
1.18	IBD and FMT
1.19	CDIF and IBD association
1.20	Other GI disorders and FMT
1.21	Non-GI disorders and FMT
2 0	BJECTIVES
3 N	IETHODS

3.1	Anir	nals, diets and experimental design	24
	3.1.1	Cellulose supplementation study	24
	3.1.2	High fat supplementation study	26
3.2	Dex	tran sulfate sodium exposure	26
3.3	Tiss	ue collection and histological analysis	27
3.4	Mici	robiota transplantation in mice	27
3.5	DNA	A extraction and analysis of microbiome	27
3.6	Flov	v cytometry	29
3.7	In vi	vo chemokine blocking	29
3.8	Hun	nan samples and Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	29
3.9	FMT	ſ protocol	30
	3.9.1	Subjects with recurrent CDIF	30
	3.9.2	Subjects with UC	31
	3.9.3	Donor recruitment	32
	3.9.4	FMT preparation	32
	3.9.5	FMT treatment protocol in CDIF patients	33
	3.9.6	FMT treatment protocol in UC patients	33
	3.9.7	Sample collection	34
3.1	0 Hun	an microbial data analysis	35
3.1	1 RNA	A sequencing and analysis	35
3.1	2 Hist	ology	
3.1	3 Add	itional statistical analysis	
4	RESU	LTS	
41	Cell	ulose supplementation studies in mice	37
	411	Increased severity of DSS colitis on a synthetic low fiber diet	37
	412	Transient trophic and anticolitic effects of cellulose supplementation	38
	413	Microbial diversity and composition changes following cellulose	
	1.1.2	supplementation	41
42	თ-6	fat diet reversal and its effect in murine studies	46
1.2	4.2.1	Reversal from ω -6 fat diet protected against colitis	46
	· · · · · ·	versus out of o the protected against contribution and the second secon	

4.2.2	Protection against colitis was ω -6 and reversal dependent	.47
4.2.3	ω6-reversal did not affect other models of colitis	. 48
4.2.4	The gut microbiome of ω 6-reversed mice transmitted the colitis suppression.	. 48
4.2.5	The microbiome of ω 6-reversed mice segregated from control	. 49
4.2.6	$Cxcr5^+ CD4^+ T$ cells were suppressed in $\omega6$ -reversed mice	. 50
4.2.7	Cxcr5 ligand B-lymphocyte chemo-attractant (or Cxcl13) modulated colitis	
	susceptibility	. 50
4.2.8	CXCL13 levels in the plasma of IBD patients	. 50
Clini	cal results of FMT	. 52
4.3.1	FMT treatment outcomes of CDIF patients	. 52
4.3.2	Clinical outcomes of patients with ulcerative colitis	. 52
4.3.3	Adverse events monitoring	. 57
Micr	obial results of FMT	. 58
4.4.1	Increased alpha-diversity following FMT in CDIF patients	. 59
4.4.2	Taxonomical changes upon FMT in CDIF	. 59
4.4.3	Microbial analyses of UC patients	. 60
4.4.4	Microbiome shifts upon FMT	. 61
4.4.5	Prolonged microbiome effects of serial FMT in two patients	. 62
4.4.6	Remarkable bacterial composition changes in pediatric CDIF after a single	
	FMT	. 64
4.4.7	Normalization of microbiome composition (beta-diversity) upon FMT in CD	IF
	patients	. 66
4.4.8	Microbiome shifts in CDIF following FMT are more pronounced than in UC	67
Muc	osal transcriptome and epithelial cell proliferation changes after the FMT serie	es
		. 67
CONC	LUSIONS	.70
Cellı	lose supplementation early in life ameliorates acute colitis in adult mice	. 70
Loss	of omega-6 fatty acid induced pediatric obesity protects against acute murine	;
coli	tis	. 72
	4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7 4.2.8 Clini 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 Micr 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.7 4.4.8 Mucc CONC Cellu Loss colir	 4.2.2 Protection against colitis was ω-6 and reversal dependent

5.3	The manipulation of microbiota as a possible therapeutic option in pediatric	
	gastrointestinal disorders	75
6	KEYNOTES	79
7	SUMMARY	80
8	ÖSSZEFOGLALÁS	81
9	REFERENCES	82
10	PUBLICATIONS	94
10	1 Related publications of the author	94
10	2 Additional unrelated publications of the author	95
10	3 Book chapters of the author	97
11	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	98

List of Abbreviations

6MP: 6-mercaptopurine
ab: antibody
BMI: body mass index
CAP: College of American Pathologists
CD: Crohn's disease
CD: cluster differentiation
CDIF: Clostridium difficile infection
CLA: conjugated lineolic acid
CLAI: Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendment
CXCR: C-X-C motif ligand chemokine receptor
D: donor
DAB: diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride
DCs: dendritic cells
DSS: dextran sulfate sodium
Dx: diagnosis
E: ethnicity
EIA: enzyme immunoassay
F: female
FFAR2: free fatty acid receptor 2
FMT: fecal microbiota transplantation
FOS: fructooligosaccharides
G: gender
GABA: gamma-aminobutyric acid
GALTs: gut-associated lymphoid tissues
GF: germfree
GI: gastrointestinal

GIT: gastrointestinal tract

GLP: Good Laboratory Practice

GOS: galactooligosaccharides

GPR43: G-protein coupled receptor 43

H: Hispanic

HC: high cellulose (12.5% cellulose)

HE: hematoxylin-eosin

HF (or $\omega 6$): high fat ($\omega 6$) diet (40% caloric content corn oil/linoleic acid)

HMP: Human Microbiome Project

IBD: inflammatory bowel disease

IBS: irritable bowel syndrome

ID: identification

IL: interleukin

IFX: infliximab

IND: Investigational New Drug

IRB: Institutional Review Board

LC: low cellulose (2.5% cellulose)

M: male

MGB axis: microbiota-gut-brain axis

MLNs: mesenteric lymph nodes

NEC: necrotizing enterocolitis

NF-kB: nuclear factor kappa-light chain enhancer of activated B cells

NH: non-Hispanic

NIH: National Institute of Health

OTUs: operational taxonomic units

P21/30/80/90/120, 30/80/90/120 days postnatal age

PBL: peripheral blood

PBMCs: peripheral blood mononuclear cells

PBS: phosphate-buffered solution

PCoA: principal coordinate analysis

PCR: polymerase chain reaction

PRED: prednisone

PSA: polysaccharide A

Pt: patient

qMRI: quantitative magnetic resonance imaging

R: race

R10 and R40: 10 or 40 days of reversal following high cellulose/ high $\omega 6$ diet

SCFAs: short chain fatty acids

SOPs: Standard Operating Procedures

TCMC: Texas Children's Microbiome Center

TNF- α : tumor necrosis factor α

Tx: therapy

UC: ulcerative colitis

W: White

y: years

1 Introduction

1.1 Nutritional developmental origins of disease hypothesis

There is a critical developmental period when nutrition may modify the predisposition to diseases later in life. The hypothesis "Developmental Origins of Health and Diseases" was established in the late 80's by Barker.(1) The retrospective studies showed that infant mortality (undernutrition *in utero* and low birth weight) permanently changes body metabolism and leads to an increased cardiovascular and metabolic disease risk later in life. The possible mechanism behind the hypothesis is programming. This process describes the mechanism whereby stimuli at a critical period of development may have long-lasting and irreversible effect on the body structure or function.

1.2 What biologic systems can be modulated by the nutrition?

Biological systems are most likely to respond to environmental stimuli when they are in flux. Developmental maturation and modification is a window opportunity to alter the biological systems. By definition, the biological system has to be responsive for environmental factors and nutritional stimuli. The biological system has to stay stable once adjusted to external stimuli. The biological system needs to be penetrant, and convey phenotype effects.

In my studies, we focused on the MICROBIOME, and how such a biological system may be modulated by the nutrition and to characterize the effect on host by these alterations.

1.3 The Human Microbiome Project

The Human Microbiome Project (2) was established in 2008 as a five-year project with a total budget of \$115 million funded by the National Institute of Health (3) to characterize the human bacteria composition associated with health and disease.

The human microbiome is a pool of all microorganisms living in association with our body. The microorganisms contain ecological communities of commensal, symbiotic and pathogenic organisms. The number of bacteria is ten times more than the number of human cells; and the compounded genes are thousand times more in the bacteria than presented in the human genome.

An individual's microbiome is varying depending on genetic predisposition, the mode of delivery (natural birth or cesarean section), age and different environmental factors such as dietary and nutritional intake, physical activity, use of different drugs, and lifestyle. The homeostasis of gut microbiome is an important key to balance health. On the other hand, dysbiosis (alteration of abundance in bacterial taxa compared to healthy individuals) is associated with diseases and could lead to different disorders. Gut bacteria have a tremendous number of roles, including (1) modifying energy balance and metabolism, and (2) controlling pathogen colonization and resistance. The bacteria performing these roles – and the mechanisms they use – are actively being uncovered.

The improving diagnostic technique took over the culture-based procedures and provided comprehensive characterization of the microbial community. The advanced highthroughput technologies have changed the global view on microbiome dramatically. Metagenomics is the study of genetic materials recovered directly from environmental samples.

The process starts with the extraction of DNA by the biological sample, followed by amplification and sequencing of 16S ribosomal RNA genes. The 16S rRNA gene allows taxonomic identification from species to phyla level. The identification is made by the comparison to a reference-based library. The advanced bioinformatics techniques provided unique opportunity to map the microbial community and give microbial information about biological samples. Adding metabolic networks linked to the microbiome provides more information on function and offers functional profile.

Focusing on the intestinal microbiome, one large step forward came with the completion of the HMP. Being catalogued the different bacteria species from stools of 242 healthy individuals.(4; 5) The HMP has taught us that the gastrointestinal (GI) microbiome contains around 15,000 to 36,000 bacterial species, and specifically enriched in Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes. These two phyla cover nearly 90% of bacteria in the human gut microbiome. Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Fusobacteria and Verrucomicrobia are also presented in the human gut microbiome. However, there is a highly remarkable diversity between individuals at a lower level of taxonomy such as species or strain.

1.4 The microbiome matures during pediatric development

The GI microbiome changes during development. In the beginning, the fetal GI tract (6) is sterile. Colonization of the GIT begins immediately at birth and is directly influenced by mode of delivery, with infants delivered by Cesarean section having delayed colonization and decreased colonization with *Bacteroides fragilis* as well as *Lactobacillus*and Bifidobacterium-like bacteria.(7) Controversial studies showed that the placenta harbors a unique microbiome.(8) First-pass meconium samples of newborns show extremely limited relative abundance of bacteria.(9; 10) The gut is rapidly colonized thereafter. After the first week of life, the microbiome appears to stabilize but varies depending on how the infant is fed. Breast-fed infants are colonized mostly by Bifidobacteria and Ruminococci, and lesser quantities of facultative anaerobes (such as Streptococci, Staphylococci, Enterococci, Lactobacilli and Enterobacteria).(11; 12) Formula-fed infants are colonized by a larger proportion of Firmicutes, Bacteroides and Proteobacteria. Recent studies have shown that formulas supplemented with prebiotics can increase the amount of Bifidobacteria and Lactobacilli in formula fed infants to similar levels found in breast-fed newborns.(13) In infancy, the microbiome continues to change, but by age 2 or 3, an "adult-like" microflora is established. However, a recent study from our collaborators provided evidence that healthy children and adult microbiome remarkably differs in composition and function.(14) Adult microbiome contains more Bacteroides species, while the relative abundance of Bifidobacterium species, Faecalibacterium species

and Lachnospiraceae are increased in children. This study proposes that microbiome may undergo a more prolonged development and more responsible for environmental effects.

1.5 The microbiome is nutritionally responsive

Is it really true that 'We are what we eat'? From a gut microbiome perspective, what we eat does indeed determine what bacteria we have more so than nationality, age, gender or body mass index (BMI) (Table 1). Humans can generally be divided into three 'enterotypes' based on the genera of bacteria in their gut.(15)

rucie i ruuriten usseentet mounteutens er tite mereereta eempestiten.				
Dietary habits	Microbiota alteration			
'Western' diet (animal protein, saturated fat)	Bacteroides enterotype			
Polyunsaturated fat and alcohol	Ruminococcus enterotype			
High carbohydrate diet	Prevotella enterotype			
Ancient rural communities (high carbohydrates, plants)	↑Bacteroidetes (Prevotella)			
Vegetarian lifestyle	↓Bacteroides, Escherichia			
High fiber	↑Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria			
	↓Firmicutes, Proteobacteria			
High fat	↑Firmicutes, Proteobacteria			
	↓Bacteroidetes			
High carbohydrate	↑Firmicutes			
	↓Bacteroidetes			

Table 1 Nutrition-associated modifications of the microbiota composition.

Humans consuming more modern diet riches in animal protein and saturated fat – the "Western diet" – harbor the *Bacteroides* enterotype. In contrast, those who consume high amounts of carbohydrates, similar to those from ancient rural communities, have the Prevotella enterotype. Finally, those with high polyunsaturated fat and alcohol intake belong to the *Ruminococcus*-dominated enterotype. The functional capacity of the human gut microbiome can be mapped to the enterotypes. For instance, the Bacteroides enterotype is characterized by genes involved in biotin, riboflavin, panthothenate and ascorbate biosynthesis were enriched in the *Bacteriodes* enterotype, associated with genes encoding enzymes involved in the degradation and fermentation of these nutrients. The Prevotella enterotype is enriched in thiamine and folate biosynthesis genes, while the Ruminococcus enterotype consists of heme biosynthesis.

1.6 The human microbiome as an active metabolizer

Gut microbiota are not passive responders to their host's diet; rather they metabolize a number of substances and function as a nutritive source for the host. For example, bacteria ferment complex carbohydrates into short chain fatty acids (SCFAs). SCFAs in turn boost the human metabolism level; increase energy intake and the bioavailability of toxins. Increased SCFAs decrease colonic pH, inhibit the growth of pathogens, and these nutritional components are the main energy source of colonic epithelial cells. All three SCFAs are reported to enhance colonic blood flow, to stimulate the proliferation of normal crypt cells. By increasing the frequency of the smooth muscle contractions of the colonic mucosa, acetate and propionate leads to an enhanced colonic motility. Butyrate is the main source (about 60 to 70%) of energy for the colonic epithelial cells. Butyrate also influences cell growth and differentiation. Propionate is associated with lipid metabolism

Additionally, pharmaceutical industries are exploiting the nutritive role of SCFAs, and provide prebiotics. Prebiotics are nonviable nutritional components that modify the colonic microbiota conferring benefits for the host health. These components escape digestion in the upper GIT and reach the colon, where they are fermented by the gut microbiota. Inulin-derived fructooligosaccharides (16) and galactooligosaccharides (GOS) change the composition and activation of the microbiota, especially lead to an increase in the amount of *Bifidobacteria* and *Lactobacilli*. These products have significant health benefits, including the influence of laxation, mineral absorption, lipid metabolism, and potential anticancer and anti-inflammatory effects.

Microbes also generate a number of essential vitamins for the host. For example, *Bacteroides fragilis* is known to produce Vitamin K_2 , therefore a key component in bone and vascular health (increases bone mineral density and modulate the blood coagulation). Another nutrient, Vitamin B_{12} (cobalamin) is produced by *Lactobacillus reiteri*, and important for growth and the development of the nervous system. The absence of this bacteria and its product decreases the risk of different neurological and hematological disorders. Other micronutrients, such as biotin, folate, thiamin, riboflavin and pyridoxine (produced by *Bifidobacterium*), are not only reinforcing the immune system, but also have epigenetic effects to regulate cell proliferation. Choline metabolites are related to

Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and *Bifidobacterium*, and linked to glucose and lipid homeostasis, involved in obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular diseases.

Malnutrition and obesity exemplify the relationship between the gut microbiota and human nutrition.(17; 18) Undernutrition (kwashiorkor or marasmus) is linked to an altered microbiota with overall reduced gene content. Malnourished children had increased in *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species and decreased in Bacteriodales with nutritional therapy. They also showed signs of a more robust microbiome, including stools with reduced saccharides and an increase of carbohydrate, amino acid, nucleotide and fatty acid metabolism products. Additionally, antibiotic supplemented therapeutic food can increase the percentage of weight gain and decrease the mortality than therapeutic food only.(19) According to the randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial, the recovery rate of severe acute malnutrition was 88.7% in the amoxicillin-complemented group and 90.9% in the cefdinir-complemented group, while placebo control reached only an 85.1% recovery rate. The mortality rate changed respectively (4.8% in the amoxicillin group, 4.1% in the cefdinir group and an increase 7.4% in the placebo group).

The obesity-associated microbiota changes are better characterized. Obese individuals have a significantly less diverse microbiome compared to non-obese controls. They are dominated by Actinobacteria (75%) and Firmicutes (25%) phyla, compared to Bacteroidetes (40%) in controls.

1.7 Rapid microbiome responses to marked diet changes

Changes in diet may lead to alteration in gut enterotypes. For instance, individuals switching from the Western diet to a vegetarian lifestyle showed decreased amount of *Bacteroides* and the related genus *Escherichia*. These changes in turn influence overall bowel health. Increased endotoxin linked to *Bacteroides* and *Escherichia* increases systemic inflammation, whereas high-fiber diets promoting Prevotella correlate with increased bowel transit and production of SCFAs that stimulate intestinal cells.

Supporting the central role of diet in shaping the microbiome, radical dietary change alters the microbiota composition. Wu and his research group showed that switching from a high

fat/low fiber diet to a high fiber/low fat diet led to detectable changes within 24 hours.(20) Both the composition of bacteria and bacterial gene expression patterns changed, indicating an acute shift in how the microbiome metabolized nutrients. However, only long-term diet changes may lead to actual switches among the three enterotypes.

1.8 The microbiome possesses compositional stability

The species composition may be highly variable among different people. However, within the same person, the gut microbiome composition varies little over time compared to other body sites such as oral cavity, skin and hair.(21)

1.9 The microbiome possesses metabolic stability

The second core principle is that even though microbial taxa may vary among individuals, the metabolic pathways catalyzed by the bacteria remain stable.(5) Hence, current techniques focused on identifying specific bacteria, such as shotgun sequencing of bacterial genomic DNA, may misrepresent the actual metabolic capacity of a microbiome. Instead, much larger scale systems biological approaches are needed in the future to confirm the conclusions of the Human Microbiome Project Consortium in respect to the high similarity in metabolic patterns representative of different microbial habitats of the human body.

1.10 The dynamically changing microbiota throughout life stages

The gut microbiome loses richness with age, correlating with altered dietary habits, chronic illnesses, and increased use of medications.(22)

1.11 The role of host immunity and infections in the modulation of gut microbiota

Gut microbes must maintain the barrier between host and all the environmental challenges present in the intestine. Stratification and compartmentalization is occurred to decrease the exposure of external stimuli and increase the efficacy of the immunity.(23)

The microbiota actively interacts with the innate and adaptive immune system. The infant gut microbiome affects the maturation of the host immune system and carefully adjust it in early days of life. The microbiota contributes to develop the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALTs). The GALTs are immune structures, which participate in lymphocyte functions and have an important role in tolerance or inflammation. The main function of the microbiota-induced development of the intestinal immune system is the promoted T helper 17 and T helper 1 cells (activated by the lamina propria dendritic cells [DCs] and macrophages) and the stimulated intestinal epithelial cells and DCs promoting IgA-producing B cells and plasma cell differentiation. (24; 25)

The decision-making process of the immune system (recognition of pathogenic or non-pathogenic bacteria) is orchestrated by the host-microbial interaction. The pathogenic bacteria will be destructed and eliminated, while the host intestine will tolerate the beneficial bacteria. The finely balanced interplay between the healthy beneficial microbiota and the exogenous and potentially harmful pathogens maintains the intestine homeostasis. This process is based on metabolites cellular and soluble elements associated to the microbiota and sensed by the immune system. These metabolites can be uniquely produced by the microbes (such as SCFAs), or evaluated (e.g. retinoic acid), or metabolized by the microbes (such as the host-presented bile acids).(18; 26) These specific metabolites and their activities -can present the current microbial composition and host-microbial communication.

Microbiota can produce nutritional components -short chain fatty acids (SCFAs), conjugated lineolic acid (CLA), polysaccharide A (PSA) gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and histamine- which affect the host immune system via direct or indirect mechanisms. As an immunological standpoint, the end products of carbohydrate fermentation (by SCFAs) can bind to a G-protein coupled receptor 43 (GPR43) or free fatty acid receptor 2 (FFAR2); and affect inflammatory responses. (27) The receptor-binding mechanism leads to an over-expression of interleukin (IL)-10, and a decreased expression of IL-12 in the human monocytes. This interaction is a great example for the diet-GI bacterial metabolism –immune and inflammatory response complex. Furthermore, SCFAs play a role in the proliferation-occurred apoptosis of activated neutrophils via the decreased

tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), IL-8 and inhibited nuclear factor kappa-light chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) pathway leading to an enhanced anti-inflammatory response.

Microbiota can also generate CLA, which are produced mostly by *Bifidobacterium breve*, *B. longum*, *Lactobacillus* and *Propionibacterium* and modulate the immune system with its anti-inflammatory properties. PSA (produced by *Bacteroides fragilis*) is also characterized by its immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory activities. The neurotransmitters (GABA and histamine) affect the central nervous system produced by various microorganisms, especially *Lactobacillus brevis*.(28)

1.12 Postnatal (29) nutritional exposures affect intestinal inflammation and associate with IBD susceptibility

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs) including Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), have been recognized as disorders whereby environmentally sensitive developmental factors may play an important etiologic role (30). The peak incidence of IBD is in young adulthood. Therefore, there is a prolonged developmental period from conception to young adulthood for environmental influences to critically impact biological systems relevant for IBD pathogenesis (31). Important elements of IBD pathology are thought to be the intestinal microbiome, the gut mucosa, and the mucosa associated immune system (30; 32). Our research group recently shown in a mouse model that maternal supplementation of 4 micronutrients could significantly modify offspring colitis susceptibility in association with colonic mucosal gene expression and microbiome alterations (33; 34). However, the same diet did not induce obvious phenotype changes with respect to intestinal inflammation when given during pediatric development. These findings underscored that pertinent nutritional factors can exert persistent colitis modifying effects during critical periods of mammalian maturation.

1.13 Cellulose supplementation early in life ameliorates acute colitis in adult mice

As for IBD, the decreased consumption of dietary fibers has been recognized to potentially play an etiologic role (35). The rising incidence of IBD in the developed world associating with a decrease in dietary fiber intake was emphasized by Burkitt during the early 70's (36). In agreement with this observation, a recent study highlighted the importance of different nutritional habits and gut microbial diversity in children from two different continents and cultures (European and a rural African village) (37). The authors called the attention to the reduction of fiber intake and the associated decrease of microbial richness in European children, which may be relevant in respect to gastrointestinal diseases. Indirect epidemiologic data supports these conclusions where high fiber and fruit consumption are associated with a decreased risk of CD and high vegetable intake is associated with a decreased risk of UC (35).

Cellulose is an insoluble fiber and an abundant component of a vegetarian diet since it is present in most plant tissues (38). It has a proliferative effect on the colon, mostly in the distal areas in rodent models (39). The colonic trophic effects of cellulose do not depend on microbial fermentation (40), as opposed to the case of other fibers, such as guar gum (41). Although cellulose may be fermented in the colon, the secondary production of SCFAs is limited (42). Despite the limited fermentation of cellulose, it has been shown to substantially modify colonic microbial composition (43). These results implicate it as a potential prebiotic (non-digestible carbohydrate that favors the growth of desirable microflora in the large bowel). Since cellulose is a major component of vegetable and fruit fibers, the indirect nutritional epidemiologic data already discussed (35; 37) would support it as an important factor in IBD pathogenesis. However, the effect of cellulose on mammalian colonic mucosal microbiome (which may be more relevant for IBD pathogenesis than luminal bacteria (44; 45)), or colitis susceptibility has not yet been investigated especially from the developmental origins perspective.

Therefore, in this study, we examined the direct and prolonged effects of pediatric cellulose supplementation on large intestinal growth, chemically induced colitis susceptibility, and colonic mucosal microbial community composition in mice.

1.14 Loss of omega-6 fatty acid induced pediatric obesity protects against acute murine colitis

A large-scale prospective nutritional study linked ω -6 fatty acid consumption to the development of UC.(46) However, clear results from human epidemiologic observations (even in prospective and well controlled) are very difficult to obtain for obvious ethical and technical considerations.(47) Therefore, the timing and nature of environmental factors critical to IBD development have remained largely unknown, as have the molecular mechanisms, which may uncover the environmental contribution to disease induction.(48) Environmental influences may trigger critical pathogenic changes at any time within an individual prior to the onset of disease, which can occur during a broad age range from fertilization to adulthood in case of IBD. Here, we examined the complex effects of transient high ω -6 fat diet consumption during pediatric development on the young adult metagenome, and immune system in a murine model of IBD.

1.15 Dysbiosis-associated gastrointestinal disorders and future therapeutic options

The commensal microbiota is a major communicator of dietary modification towards the intestinal immune system of the host and can rapidly change its composition upon nutritional challenges. Disease-associated microbiome changes can be seen in different GI disorders. For example, dysbiosis is found in IBDs. IBD is linked to a reduced proportion of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (with an increased Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio) and an increased proportion of Proteobacteria compared to healthy individuals.(49) Colitis is also associated with a decreased abundance of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, which is characterized by a notable anti-inflammatory effect.(50) Premature colonization of the intestine and other trigger factors together can lead to necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), which is characterized by an increased abundance of Proteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria and a decrease in Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes.(51) The key role is the pathomechanism of NEC is supported by the fact that probiotic supplemented breast milk can decrease the chance of developing the disease.(52) Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is a functional bowel disorder described with abdominal pain and alternating defecation habit. Pediatric IBS subtypes are distinguished by microbial composition differences. IBS

is associated with an increased abundance of Gammaproteobacteria and pain frequency is linked to a greater proportion of *Alistipes* genus.(53)

Reduction in microbial diversity or richness is also related to the development of intestinal diseases (e.g., IBDs, NEC). However, alteration of diet does not specifically mean beneficial effect on the colon. Monotonous dietary intake may decrease mammalian vulnerability against intestinal inflammation in association with microbiota separation. (54) In conclusion, the understand of the unique human gut microbiome and its association with disorders will may help developing personalized medicine and therapeutics in the future. However, results of the microbiome studies are based mostly on findings from pharmacologically treated patients. Treatments highly modify microbiome, and more significantly than the disease itself. (55; 56) For example, enteric dysbiosis in untreated IBD patients appears to be rather modest and provided unexpected findings in recent pediatric studies.(57)

Microbial communities with different metabolic profiles on drugs will may modify the current treatment strategies. (58) Microbiome can modify drug action, metabolism and toxicity in the human gut and liver. Gut-associated microbes alter drug metabolism by modulating the drug-metabolizing enzymes activity, or change their level. Microbes also can directly produce enzymes that activate or degrade drug metabolites, or compete with molecules affecting xenobiotic metabolism. In the future, pharmacomicrobiomics will may be taken into consideration with pathologic and pharmacokinetic characteristics of individuals.

1.16 The manipulation of microbiota as a possible therapeutic option in pediatric GI disorders

The restoration of human microbial homeostasis may be highly beneficial for GI disorders, where dysbiosis present. The most complex bacteriotherapy is fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT). FMT is the process of stool transplantation from a healthy individual into a recipient. The history of FMT goes back to the 4th Century, when Ge Hong used human fecal suspension by mouth for food poisoning or severe diarrhea.(59) The first case series were reported in 1958 by Eiseman and colleagues, who treated

pseudomembranous colitis by fecal retention enema.(60) Immediate recovery and resolution of symptoms was observed within days in all patients. As our current knowledge, FMT is safe and highly effective for the treatment of recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection (CDIF) in patients without complicating clinical conditions. Besides recurrent CDIF, there is an emerging interest to use FMT as a novel therapeutic option in patients with other GI disorders, such as IBD or other diseases.

1.17 CDIF and FMT

CDIF is emerging, despite the increased efforts towards prevention, improving diagnosis and therapy.(61) CDIF is the most commonly reported nosocomial pathogen in the United States (US). Epidemiologic data suggest that the CDIF-associated severe diarrhea is continuously increasing with a rise in hospitalization, morbidity and mortality.(62; 63) The latest reports showed CDIF to cause more than \$1.5 billion excess medical costs annually in the US. (64) The incidence of pediatric CDIF is also increasing.(65) Recurrence of CDIF is 20-30%, which increases upon repeated infections in spite of new antibiotic regimens.(66) FMT has been shown to be the most effective treatment to date for CDIF.(67) The largest systemic review including 844 patients (76% diagnosed with CDIF) undergoing FMT showed 90.7% cure rates.(68) Similar cure rates have been shown for children,(69; 70) but microbiome analyses were performed only in a few cases.(71)

1.18 IBD and FMT

UC and CD are the two forms of IBD that affects about 50% of the estimated 1.8 million people suffering from IBD in the US.(72) About 20% of IBD cases present in children, where the disease frequently (~40%) becomes refractory to conventional medical therapy within 10 years of diagnosis, leading to colectomy.(73) FMT is an emerging unconventional treatment for UC.(74; 75) Almost half (46%) of adult UC patients would consider FMT as therapeutic option (76), and both adult and pediatric patients wish to have it available as a treatment modality.(77) A recent meta-analysis evaluated the efficacy of

FMT as a treatment option for IBD patients.(78) Eighteen studies were included with 122 patients (79 UC and 39 CD). The 9 cohort studies, 8 case studies and 1 randomized controlled trial demonstrated an overall 45% clinical remission over varying length of follow up time. According to disease severity, 37% of patients had active disease, 29% had moderate-to-severe disease, and 23% had mild disease. However, the review did not specify any correlation between FMT efficacy and IBD disease activity.

A pediatric trial tested 5 daily FMT in mild-to-moderate UC, where 6 out of 9 children (67%) achieved and maintained clinical remission 4 weeks after the last treatment.(79) However, a phase I pediatric study showed negative results following a single FMT via nasogastric tube.(80) The first randomized, placebo controlled trial of FMT as treatment for active UC was presented as an abstract at the Digestive Disease Week conference in 2014. Moavyedi et al. compared administration of FMT versus water-enema for 6 consecutive weekly treatments. They found no difference in the primary outcome of clinical remission after 6 weeks. However, 16 of the 27 patients in the active arm reported subjective improvement, and were allowed to continue receiving weekly FMT for an additional 6-12 weeks. With the extended therapy, 33% of patients achieved clinical remission.(81) Their consecutive publication indicated that FMT induces remission in a greater proportion of UC patients than placebo. Additionally, patients with a less than 1year history of UC responded better to FMT than those with more prolonged disease course prior to the intervention.(82) Interestingly, another recently published placebo controlled trial did not find a clinically significant benefit from FMT in adult UC patients.(83) This protocol differed significantly from Moavyedi, et al. by administering only 2 FMT treatments within 3 weeks by naso-duodenal delivery and they used autologous stool as placebo. The different outcomes from the two controlled studies may be related to the difference between the placebo used, the mode of delivery, the number of FMT given in addition to differences in recipient disease activity at the time of FMT initiation.

1.19 CDIF and IBD association

Interestingly, *Clostridium difficile* is an opportunistic pathogen that presents at high rates in patients with underlying chronic diseases and long-term hospitalization. For instance, the prevalence of CDIF at disease onset was 8.1% in a pediatric population with underlying IBD at Texas State, USA.(84) This prevalence is much higher than the general population.

1.20 Other GI disorders and FMT

There is an increasing attention on the association between intestinal microbiome, obesity and obesity-related metabolic disorders. The presented altered microbiome is associated with low-grade inflammation of the gut.

Researchers described dysbiosis in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. The composition of microbiota represented the symptoms associated with the disease (constipation vs. diarrhea type IBS). (85) Additionally, 70% of the patients experienced improvement of their symptoms following FMT.(86) Furthermore, long-term resolution was seen almost half of the patients.

The strong association between diet, host metabolism and gut microbiome demonstrates homeostasis and misbalance in cases with metabolic disorders. The transplantation of microbiome composition from a lean subject to an obese improved insulin resistance by the increased presence of SCFA-producing bacteria.(87)

1.21 Non-GI disorders and FMT

There is an increasing interest in the role of intestinal dysbiosis and nongastrointestinal disorders, and to treat patients with FMT. The gut microbiota regulates intestinal function, the immune and nervous systems of the intestine, and influence the brain by the microbiota-gut-brain (MGB) axis. This concept opens the door for a possibly novel therapeutic option for the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders, chronic fatigue disease and autism.

2 OBJECTIVES

- 1. There is a direct link between nutrition, microbiome and host response.
- 2. Postnatal exposure to different nutrients (such as cellulose or fat) has transient or persistent effect on intestinal homeostasis and predispose to the development for intestinal inflammation.
- 3. Complex bacteriotherapy, such as FMT provides treatment and/or the resolution of symptoms for patients suffering in CDIF and IBD.



Figure 1 The Nutrition-Microbiome-Host Triangle.

3 METHODS

3.1 Animals, diets and experimental design

3.1.1 Cellulose supplementation study

Our initial observations were made on C57BL/6J male mice (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME, USA) receiving (regular chow [12.5% dietary fiber]; 2920X, Harlan-Teklad, Madison, WI, USA) or synthetic low cellulose (2.5% cellulose, LC; #102460, Dyets Inc., Bethlehem, PA, USA) from 30 to 90 days of age. In the consecutive experiments, 21-day old (postnatal days 21, P21) C57BL/6J male mice were provided free access to regular chow (12.5% dietary fiber) within the same room of our animal facility for 9 days. At P30, the mice were randomly allocated to receive synthetic low cellulose or high cellulose (12.5% cellulose, HC; #102532) diet for 50 days (Table 2).

		LC	HC	LC	HC		
Ingredient	kcal/gm	grams/k	grams/kg		kcal/kg		
Casein	3.58	200		716	716		
DL-Methionine	4	3		12	12		
Sucrose	4	341.46		1366	1366		
Cornstarch	3.6	242.5	172.5	873	621		
Dyetrose	3.8	90	60	342	228		
Corn Oil	9	51		459	459		
Cellulose	0	25	125	0			
Mineral Mix #200000	0.47	35	35		16.45		
Vitamin Mix #300050	3.92	10		39.2	39.2		
Choline Bitartrate	0	2	2				
Ethoxyquin	0	0.04		0			

Table 2 The composition of the synthetic low cellulose (LC: 2.5% cellulose) and the high cellulose (HC: 12.5% cellulose) diets.

Conventional chows regularly contain $\sim 12.5\%$ fiber (including cellulose). At P80, the HC animals were reversed to control (low cellulose) diet for 10 (HCR10 = P90), or 40 days (HCR40 = P120) (Figure 2). For the microbiome studies, 10 animals in two cages were used for each dietary group. Those were allocated to receive either low cellulose (control, LC, 10 animals in 2 cages), or high cellulose diets (HC, 10 animals in 2 cages). At P80, 2 animals from each cage were crossed between the groups to eliminate cage bias. Five control animals at P80 and 5 at P90 were euthanized for tissue collection. There was no significant separation between these groups based upon a principal coordinates analysis

(PCoA) of 16S rRNA sequence information; therefore, these were grouped together as a single control. As for the high cellulose group, 2 animals were crossed between the two cages at P80. One cage was continued on high cellulose diet until P90 (HC), and the other cage was reversed to the control diet (low cellulose, LC) until P90 (HCR10), when those were euthanized for tissue collection. The discovery cohorts included 3-3 mice in two independent studies (P90 LC and HC; and P90 LC and HCR10) with the same experimental conditions.



Figure 2 Schematic description of the cellulose feeding protocols. A: 12.5% high cellulose (HC) group without reversal for the purposes of colonic length and microbiota analysis. B: 2.5% low cellulose (LC) group. C: 10-day reversal group (HCR10). D: 40-day reversal group (HCR40). For the B, C and D groups DSS was administered at postnatal day 90 (P90) and P120, respectively. (DSS: dextran sulfate sodium; R10 and R40: 10 or 40 days of reversal following high cellulose diet; P21/30/80/90/120, 30/80/90/120 days postnatal age).

3.1.2 High fat supplementation study

P21 male C57BL/6 mice received standard rodent diet (2920X) until P30. Then, mice were randomly assigned to artificial diets: low 12% caloric content corn oil/linoleic acid: control diet, C (DYET# 102460); or to high ω -6 (40% caloric content corn oil/linoleic acid: ω 6 or HF) (DYET# 102459) from P30 to P80. Following this 50-day period, the animals were reversed to C for 10 (ω 6-R10) or 40 (ω 6-R40) days. High milk fat, high cholesterol (MF) diet (DYET# 112734) was used with the same feeding protocol to examine fat-dependent effects. Fat to body weight ratio was interrogated on P90 and P120 by quantitative magnetic resonance imaging (qMRI). 6-week-old Swiss-Webster germfree (GF) mice were derived by cesarean section under GF conditions at Taconic Farms Inc. (SWGF; Hudson, NY, USA) and delivered with specific GF shipping for the microbiota transfer experiments.

All mice were housed in our specific pathogen free animal facility during the experiment. All applicable institutional and governmental regulations concerning the ethical use of animals were followed. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Baylor College of Medicine.

3.2 Dextran sulfate sodium exposure

Susceptibility to colitis was tested by administering 2% (wt/vol) (for the synthetic chow experiments) or 3% (for the original regular chow vs. synthetic chow observations) dextran sulfate sodium (DSS; MW=36000-50000, MP Biomedicals, LLC, Solon, OH, USA) in the drinking water at P90 or P120 *ad libitum* for 5 days followed by regular water for an additional 9 days. DSS of this molecular weight induces diffuse colitis from cecum to distal large bowel (88). The animals were weighed daily and colonic length measurements were performed at the end of the experiments following CO₂ asphyxiation. Weight loss during DSS administration in mice has been shown to correlate well with molecular and histological outcome measures of colitis severity (27; 31; 89). Therefore, we decided to follow weight loss, colon length, and histological severity of intestinal inflammation as the primary outcomes measuring colitis severity in our DSS experiments.

3.3 Tissue collection and histological analysis

At the end of the feeding periods, mice were sacrificed by CO₂ asphyxiation between 11:00 AM and 2:00 PM without any previous food restriction. The colons were placed on ice, transected longitudinally, cleansed from feces, washed with ice cold normal saline, followed by the collection of colonic mucosa with a microscope slide (90) (excluding the cecum). The mucosal scrapings were flash frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80°C as earlier described (31).

For histological analysis, additional colonic samples were transected and processed for standard hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining following fixation in 10% formaldehyde. Histological severity of intestinal inflammation was determined by a blinded pathologist based upon tissue damage grade and the presence of inflammatory cells. (54)

Morphometric analyses (crypt length, surface area) were performed with Olympus DP2-BSW program on transected proximal (post-cecal) colonic specimens.

3.4 Microbiota transplantation in mice

Cecal contents were pooled from ω 6-R40 or C120 littermates. Cecal extracts were suspended in phosphate-buffered solution (PBS, 2.5 ml per cecum) and were administered orally by gavage (0.1 ml per mouse) immediately to sterilely packed 6-week-old SWGF male GF mice (Taconic, Hudson, NY, USA) as described by Vijay-Kumar et al.(91) Transplanted mice were fed with-control diet for 5 days, and then 3% of DSS was given to induce acute colitis. Body weight was measured daily. The animals were euthanized and tissues were collected as above.

3.5 DNA extraction and analysis of microbiome

Colonic mucosal samples were submitted to the Texas Children's Microbiome Center (TCMC, Houston, TX, USA) for DNA extraction and sequencing. Community DNA was extracted from each specimen using the PowerSoil DNA isolation kit (Mo Bio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA), following the HMP modifications (2) to the manufacturer's instructions. The resulting DNA was quantitated using both a NanoDrop1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop, Wilmington, DE, USA) and Qubit fluorometer (Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Barcoded universal primers 357F (5'-CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') and 926R (5'-CCGTCAATTCMTTTRAGT-3') were utilized to amplify the V3-V5 region of the 16S rRNA gene. The discovery study utilized a different set of PCR primers (28F [5'-GAGTTTGATCNTGGCTCAG-3'] and 519R [5'-GTNTTACNGCGGCKGCTG-3'] amplifying the V1-V3 region of the 16S rRNA). Each library construct was then processed and purified for 454 sequencing. Sequencing was performed on the Roche GS FLX 454 sequencer (454 Life Sciences, Branford, CT, USA).

Sequence data were parsed by barcode and quality filtered using QIIME (version 1.3.0) (92), as implemented in the Genboree Microbiome Toolset (93). Sequences shorter than 200 bp lengths, having average quality scores less than 20, harboring ambiguous base calls, or having mismatches to their barcode or sequencing primer were excluded from further analysis. Both the barcodes and sequencing primers were trimmed away, and the remaining sequences from the control and treatment groups were pooled and assigned to operational taxonomic units (OTUs) at a similarity cut off of 97% using Cd-hit (94). The data set was screened for potential chimeras using the ChimeraSlayer algorithm (95), and all potential chimeras were excluded from downstream analysis. Identities were assigned to each OTU using the Ribosomal Database Project Classifier (96).

Prior to the calculation of diversity metrics or comparison across treatments, the sequence libraries were randomly subsampled to achieve even sampling depth (subsampled depth = 3634 sequences per library). All results presented here were determined using our subsampled sequence libraries. Community similarity was evaluated across treatments among treatments using principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) of OTU data. PCoA plots were generated using weighted Unifrac distances, as calculated in QIIME.

Sequence libraries were also evaluated for potential differences in composition using two-tailed Mann-Whitney U-tests and false discovery rate correction for multiple comparisons in Genespring GX (version 12.0) (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). A stratified approach was used, first identifying OTUs that differed significantly with respect to the treatment groups and controls, then exploring these differences further in the context of the R10 and R40 treatment, with the goal of identifying changes that may be transient or longer-lasting.

3.6 Flow cytometry

To conduct lymphocyte population analysis, mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs) and spleens (SPLs) underwent mechanical disruption, erythrocyte lysis and preparation for flow cytometry as described previously.(97) Lymphocytes were labeled for the markers cluster differentiation (CD) 4 and C-X-C motif ligand chemokine receptor (CXCR) 5 (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA). Flow cytometry was performed using a FACSCanto instrument (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA), and the data was analyzed using FlowJo software (Treestar, Ashland, OR, USA).

3.7 In vivo chemokine blocking

C57BL/6J mice were treated with 0.2 mg of neutralizing C-X-C motif ligand chemokine (CXCL) 13 antibody (ab) (#MAB470; R&D Systems) or isotype control ab (#MAB006; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). Both mouse abs were delivered by intraperitoneal injection in 1 mg/ml concentration dissolved in PBS. To examine the effect of CXCL13 ab on DSS-induced colitis model, abs were administered on the first, third and fifth day (3 times) after initiating 3% DSS.

3.8 Human samples and Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

33 pediatric patients were recruited prior to endoscopy following informed consent though the institutional review board (IRB) approved tissue bank of the Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease Consortium Registry at the Baylor College of Medicine (H-17654). Sera of 12 UC, 11 CD and 10 healthy controls (C) were used for quantification of circulating CXCL13 levels. Pediatric controls included children who underwent colonoscopic evaluation for diagnoses of hematochezia, diarrhea, or abdominal pain, but whose endoscopy was grossly and histologically normal. BD Vacutainer® CPTTM Cell Preparation Tube with Sodium Citrate was used to isolate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from peripheral blood (PBL). PBLs were centrifuged at 1000x g for 10 min and stored at -80°C. QuiAmp DNA mini kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was utilized on the isolated PBMCs to retract DNA. Plasma concentrations of CXCL13 were quantified by Quantikine ELISA methodology according to the manufacturer's instructions (#DCX130; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). All samples were measured in duplicate. Color intensity of the assay was measured by a standard ELISA microplate reader. Color intensity correlates with the amount of bound CXCL13. Quantikine kit standards were used for generation of standard curves.

3.9 FMT protocol

3.9.1 Subjects with recurrent CDIF

Ten pediatric patients (5 females and 5 males; 2-16 years of age [y], average 9.3 y) with recurrent CDIF received FMT under an IRB approved protocol (Table 3). The experimental nature of FMT was highlighted during consenting.

Pt	G	R	Е	Age (y)	Significant complicating disease	Prior CDIF treatment
1	М	W	NH	15	ulcerative colitis	vancomycin
2	F	W	NH	16		vancomycin and metronidazole
3	F	W	Н	15	cerebral palsy	vancomycin
4	Μ	W	NH	4		vancomycin
5	Μ	W	NH	2		vancomycin
6	F	W	NH	2	heart transplant	vancomycin
7	М	W	NH	6	Crohn's disease	Vancomycin
8	F	W	NH	2	infantile spasm	vancomycin
9	Μ	W	NH	15		vancomycin
10	F	W	NH	16	mild ulcerative colitis	vancomycin

Table 3 Characterization of patients received fecal microbiota transplantation. Patients highlighted had no major underlying diseases and were evaluated for further analysis.

(E: ethnicity; F: female; G: gender; H: Hispanic; M: male; NH: non-Hispanic; Pt: patient; R: race; W: White; y: years)

Three patients had IBD (2 UC and 1 CD), 1 had heart transplant, and 2 had significant neurologic impairment as underlying conditions (Table 3). All patients received at least 1 course of metronidazole (10-14 days) and vancomycin orally. They all had recurrent/ongoing symptoms in spite of at least 2 courses of antibiotics. Eight out of ten patients received vancomycin until one day prior to FMT; one patient had finished vancomycin therapy 2 weeks before FMT, and one 3 weeks prior to FMT.

3.9.2 Subjects with UC

Subjects were recruited from the patients treated by the Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition Section at Baylor College of Medicine/Texas Children's Hospital. Only patients whose clinical, endoscopic and histologic findings supported the diagnosis of UC were recruited. Only steroid, thiopurine, or biologic agent dependent patients were included following informed consent (i.e. "immunotherapy" dependent). Enrollees had to test negative for *Clostridium difficile* toxin by polymerase chain reaction (PCR), or enzyme immunoassay (EIA), and agree to withdraw all medications prior to and during the trial. They also had to agree to a pre-treatment surgical consultation and acknowledge the potential need for colectomy, if disease exacerbations cannot be controlled by conventional medical therapy.

We analyzed the clinical and microbial data of 3 patients from our first pilot study (Table 4) and 6 patients from our second Investigational New Drug (IND)-linked phase 1 clinical trial (Table 5).

31

	L									
Patients (Age, Gender)	Disease Behavior	Mayo Score	Tx after Dx	Mayo Score	FMT #	Remissio n during FMT (in Days)	Mayo Score	Remission after last Medication (Days)	Remission after last FMT (Days)	Tx following Flare
Gendery		At Dx		Before FMT			After FMT			
1 (16y M)	Pancolitis	2	IFX	0	30	65/70 (93%)	0	261	126	IFX
2 (15y M)	Pancolitis	2	6MP	1	25	58/58 (100%)	0	159	80	PRED FMT
3 (14y F)	Pancolitis	3	PRED	0	22	36/36 (100%)	0	105	79	PRED FMT Colectomy

Table 4 Patient characteristics and clinical outcomes after sequential FMT from our first pilot study.

(Dx: diagnosis; F: female; IFX: infliximab; M:male; 6MP: 6-mercaptopurine; PRED: prednisone; Tx: therapy)

Table 5 Patient characteristics, premedication and donor characterics in our IND phase 1

	enniedi study.									
Study G		R	Е	Age	Treatment	FMT	Age at	Time between diagnosis and		
ID	ID C K		12	(y)	prior to FMT	specimens	diagnosis (y)	first FMT (months)		
P001*	М	W	NH	16	Prednisone	D001	13	41 (*29)		
P002	F	W	NH	18	Prednisone	D002	17	7		
P003 [#]	F	W	Н	15	Prednisone	D001	13	18 (#6)		
P004	М	W	NH	20	Prednisone	D001	16	43		
P005	М	W	NH	17	Prednisone	D001	17	3		
P006	М	W	NH	13	Prednisone	D001	11	22		
D001	М	A/I	NH	37						
D002	F	Λ/Ι	NH	30						

(D: donor; E: ethnicity; F: female; G: gender; H: Hispanic; ID: identification; IFX: infliximab; M: male; 6MP: 6-mercaptopurine; NH: non-Hispanic; PRED; prednisone; Pt: patient; R: race; W: White; y:years)

3.9.3 Donor recruitment

Healthy adult stool donors (between 18 and 45 years of age) were recruited by the research staff following informed consent. Donors were asked to volunteer for the screening (pass a health questionnaire, serologic and stool tests and regularly supply stool samples according to the study protocol.

3.9.4 FMT preparation

The stool preparations were performed in the TCMC. This facility operates under Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) and is part of the clinical enterprise in the Department of Pathology, accredited by the College of American Pathologists (CAP) and certified by Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendment (CLIA). Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) on fecal specimen preparation and for decontamination procedures for biosafety cabinets and equipment were followed before and after fecal preparation. Freshly collected stool specimens from the healthy adult donor (within 2 hours of passing) were delivered on ice for processing. Specimens were aliquoted to ~50 g aliquots, and cold sterile normal saline solution (NSS) was added prior to homogenization in a strainer bag with 500-µm pore size (Seward Laboratory Systems Inc., Port Saint Lucie, FL) using the Smasher Laboratory Blender/Homogenizer (AES CHEMUNEX Inc., Cranbury, NJ). Sterile glycerol was added to filtered homogenized stool specimens containing the fecal microbiome at a final concentration of 10% according to Hamilton et al.(98) Stool preparations were immediately stored at -80°C until transplantation or analysis. All stool preparations were labeled with an expiration date 8 weeks from the date of preparation. At each FMT treatment, fecal preparations were rapidly thawed at 35°C in a water bath and used within 15 minutes. Sterile NSS was used as a diluent to reach the final volume of 250 ml from 50mg of original stool prior to delivery.

3.9.5 FMT treatment protocol in CDIF patients

Patients received filtered, frozen-thawed fecal preparation from a single, screened, standardized (D002, 9 patients), or a self-designated donor (D005-father of patient 6) through colonoscopy, followed by enema or nasogastric consecutive FMT, if clinically indicated. The donor screening and process was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration and published previously.(99) The CDIF patients received the therapy only one time (or a second time if there was no clinical improvement in their condition.

3.9.6 FMT treatment protocol in UC patients

UC patients received a sequential therapy of more FMTs:

Initial colonoscopy and FMT treatment (Day 1): At the time of colonoscopy, an assessment for macroscopic colitis using the Mayo classification was performed. Biopsies were

obtained from the rectosigmoid and cecum in an ascending fashion for routine histopathology and research purposes. Following mucosal sampling, subjects underwent FMT with 250 ml of thawed stool preparation, 1/3 of which was endoscopically administered into the terminal ileum and 2/3 into the right colon as targeted site as found feasible by Brandt and colleagues.(100)

Subsequent FMT Treatments: The duration of FMT therapy was planned to be 12 weeks.

Days 2 through 14: Subjects came to the ambulatory clinic daily for clinical symptom evaluation and fecal retention enema administration (60-250 ml rectally [as tolerated] with retention for at least 30 minutes).

Days 15 through 28: Enemas were given 3 times a week on weeks 3 and 4 of the protocol.

Days 29-84 (2 to 3 months): Enemas were given weekly for a total of 3-8 weeks (less than 8 secondary to the cessation of the protocol according to the FDA mandate).

During the IND study (P001-P006, this protocol does not involve the first 3 patients from the pilot study), monthly enema was provided up to a year.

As supportive care, patients were allowed to take 4 mg (2 tablets of over the counter Imodium) loperamide by mouth 15-30 minutes prior to enema treatments to help retain the preparation. This dose of loperamide is appropriate for the age group. Loperamide is over-the-counter and FDA approved for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease associated diarrhea.

Response and progression was monitored by PUCAI during the protocol. The clinical symptoms survey was performed prior to each enema delivery and a disease progression table was recorded for each enrolled patient.

3.9.7 Sample collection

Stool samples of CDIF patients were collected the day prior FMT and 8-9 weeks following treatment on a follow-up visit. Select patients provided additional samples. Samples from UC patients were collected on the day prior to FMT, two weeks after the last weekly enema, and at 6 months after the initiation of FMT.

34
3.10 Human microbial data analysis

The fecal microbiome was characterized using 454 pyrosequencing of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene on samples. Stool samples were processed by the TCMC for DNA extraction, sequencing and microbial data analysis (same as mentioned above in our mice protocol).

Given variation in sequencing depth, the 16S rRNA gene libraries were subsampled to an equal depth (i.e., 1900 sequences per library) prior to the evaluation of richness or calculation of diversity indices, including the Shannon diversity index and unweighted UniFrac distance measures. The results from the microbiome characterization of the donor were compared to the patient's microbiome prior and after transplantation.

3.11 RNA sequencing and analysis

RNA samples from colon biopsies were QCed by spectrophotometry (NanoDrop-1000 Spectrophotometer, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, U.S.A.) and microfluidic electrophoresis (Experion Automated Electrophoresis System, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). PolyA-selected libraries were prepared from total RNA samples with TruSeq RNA Sample Preparation Kits (Illumina, San Diego, CA). Cluster generation was performed with Illumina TruSeq SR Cluster Kits v3 - cBot - HS, in a cBot Cluster Generation System and 100 bp paired-end-sequencing using Illumina TruSeq SBS Kits on an Illumina HiSeq 2000 Sequencing System resulting in mean sequencing depth of 160 million (101-213 million) reads per sample. CASAVA software (Illumina) was used to convert raw read data to fast format. Sequencing reads were trimmed for quality (q < 20) and adapters and then aligned to the human genome (GRCh37/hg19) using Tophat2⁹. Cufflinks¹⁰ was used for estimation of transcript abundances based on Fragments Per Kilobase of exon per Million fragments mapped (FPKM). Differential expression analysis was carried out using Cuffdiff, which calculates a test statistic based on the log ratio of a gene's expression in two conditions against the log of one. Multiple testing correction at a false discovery rate < 0.05 was applied to identify differentially expressed genes.

3.12 Histology

The biopsy specimens were examined by a GI pathologist, who was blinded to the previous reported histology reports. The specimens were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin immediately following endoscopy. The tissue samples were routinely processed and paraffin embedded. Paraffin sections (3 micron) were cut and HE stained with eight tissue sections on one slide. Duplicated 3-micron sections were stained for histone (H3) via immunohistochemistry using a polyclonal rabbit anti-human histone (06-570; Millipore, Billerica, Massachusetts). After pretreatment with HIER1 (Bond Epitope Retrieval Solution 1) for 30 minutes at 100 degree Fahrenheit, the specimens were incubated with the primary antibody dilution 1:800 at room temperature for 15 minutes. The detection system used was the Novocastra Bond Polymer Refine Detection System (biotin-free, peroxide conjugated) from LEICA, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom with diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB) as the chromogen and HE as the counterstain.

3.13 Additional statistical analysis

Nonparametric, two tailed Mann-Whitney-tests was utilized for richness calculation; parametric, two-tailed Student's T-test and correlation calculations were used in the analyses of OTU number changes and group comparisons. The statistical significance was declared at p<0.05. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (60). A parametric, two-sided Student's two-sample t-test was used in the analysis of shared similarities and distances. Spearman correlation coefficient and level of significance was calculated in Prism4.03 between Mayo score and length of clinical remission. The statistical significance was declared at p<0.05 with Bonferroni corrections.

4 RESULTS

4.1 CELLULOSE SUPPLEMENTATION STUDIES IN MICE

4.1.1 Increased severity of DSS colitis on a synthetic, low fiber diet

Chemical colitis in C57BL/6J mice is usually induced by transient exposure to 3-5% DSS (88; 101). When we initiated 3% DSS treatment in animals that received a synthetic, low cellulose (2.5% cellulose, LC) diet, they lost excessive weight necessitating early euthanasia (Figure 3A). Therefore, mice on the LC diet had significantly increased susceptibility to chemically induced colitis compared to animals on regular chow (12.5% dietary fiber). Based on our findings, we utilized 2% DSS treatment to induce colitis in our further experiments involving low cellulose diets.



Figure 4 Increased severity of colitis and decreased colonic lengths in P90 mice fed by a synthetic diet [low cellulose (2.5%, LC) as fiber] compared to regular chow (12.5% dietary fiber). Upon 3% DSS challenge (A, n=8-10), the animals on the LC diet lost significantly more weight than on regular chow. On the seventh day, the experiment had to be terminated for severe weight loss in the LC group. In independent experiments where the mice did not receive DSS (B, n=14-40), colonic lengths of mice fed the synthetic diet were significantly shorter than in animals fed regular (12.5% fiber) chow.

Upon comparing large intestinal lengths between mice receiving regular chow and our synthetic (LC) diet, we recognized that colons were significantly shorter on the artificial diet (Figure 3B) without any previous exposures (such as DSS). Since dietary fibers and cellulose specifically have been shown to promote intestinal lengthening (trophic effects) in rodents (39; 102), we postulated that the low cellulose content of the synthetic diet may have been responsible for the observed shorter baseline colon lengths (leading to smaller colonic surface area) and increased susceptibility to DSS colitis (secondary to increased DSS to relative colonic surface, i.e. higher concentrations of the chemical irritant at the mucosa).

4.1.2 Transient trophic and anticolitic effects of cellulose supplementation

Dietary fibers have been observed to decrease colitis severity in acute and chronic rodent models (103-105). However, the means by which this effect is accomplished, and whether all fiber types have such anti-inflammatory properties, remains questionable. We were particularly interested if dietary cellulose supplementation by itself could decrease DSS colitis severity and how persistent such effects may be. Consequently, the cellulose content of our synthetic diet was selectively increased (high cellulose, HC) and fed to the animals during the pediatric period (P30-P80 (106)). Thereafter, the mice were reversed back to the LC diet for 10 (high cellulose reversed 10 days: HCR10 = P90 total), or 40 (HCR40 = P120 total) days to examine the persistence of any anticolitic effect induced by pediatric cellulose supplementation. The pediatric period is highly relevant with respect to the nutritional and developmental origins of IBD since the disorders most commonly present in young adulthood (31). Colons were significantly longer in mice fed a high cellulose diet even after 10 days of reversal compared to controls (Figure 5A). Remarkably, the large intestines were similar in length compared to control following 40 days of reversal (Figure 5C). The severity of DSS (2%) colitis correlated inversely with baseline colonic lengths in the feeding groups. Mice reversed for 10 days from the high cellulose diet (HCR10) were protected compared to the controls (LC) (Figure 5B). Colitis susceptibility was similar between the 40 day reversal (HCR40) and LC groups (Figure 5D). The severity of histological inflammation upon DSS challenge also decreased (p=0.016) in the HC



dietary group compared to controls (LC) supporting the findings on weight loss and colonic shortening (Figure 6).

Figure 5 Transient colonic trophic effect and protection against dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) colitis upon cellulose supplementation. A. Colons were significantly longer in animals receiving 12.5% cellulose supplemented diet (HC). This trophic effect persisted after 10 days of reversal (HCR10) from the 12.5% cellulose to 2.5% cellulose diet (LC P90) [n=40-10-15]. B. Other mice were exposed to 2% DSS (as opposed to 3% in Figure 1, due to the increased sensitivity of mice to DSS on the low cellulose diet) in their drinking water at P90 for 5 days then received regular water. Mice reversed for 10 days (HCR10) from the high cellulose (12.5%) diet were protected (less weight loss) against DSS compared to controls (LC P90) [n=7-10 per group]. The histological score confirmed our results: high cellulose supplemented group had decreased severity of colitis upon DSS challenge (See Figure S2). C. The cellulose supplementation induced trophic effect was lost after 40 days of reversal (HCR40) from the 12.5% cellulose to 2.5% cellulose diet (LC

P120) [n=8-8]. D. Colitis susceptibility was also similar between the 40 day reversal (HCR40) and control groups (LC P120) [n=7-10 per group].



Figure 6 Histological severity of colitis in a validation experimental group. Colitis severity was significantly (U test p=0.016) decreased in the 12.5% high cellulose (HCR10) group compared to controls (low cellulose, LC). N=5. Cellulose supplementation was given between postnatal day 30 to 80, then DSS treatment was administered for 5 days. We did follow-up altogether with the DSS-treatment for 14 days.



Figure 7 Transected proximal colons from LC (left) and HC (right) mice at P90. Note the significantly (p<0.001; 7-8 measurements, average length 1180 μ m vs. 393 μ m) elongated

crypts in HC compared LC. The surface area increase secondary to this morphological change was calculated to be 20% in HC compared to LC (magnification x40).

Morphometric analyses on representative proximal colonic samples from HC and LC (Figure 5A) mice showed that HC leads to significant (p<0.001) elongation of crypts leading to a 20% increase in transectional surface area (Figure 7). The overall average colonic surface area increase upon cellulose supplementation was calculated to be around 20%.

4.1.3 Microbial diversity and composition changes following cellulose supplementation

Mucosa associated microbes may be more important in gut homeostasis and inflammation than luminal ones (45). The effect of different fibers on the metabolic activity and composition of the gut microbiome was observed both in fecal samples and in *in vitro* models (37; 107; 108). Nevertheless, the consequence of dietary fiber (including cellulose) supplementation on the colonic mucosal microbiome in mammals has not been studied, especially with high-throughput methodologies. Therefore, we examined if dietary cellulose supplementation may affect the colonic mucosal microbiome. The persistence of effects on the gut microbiome 10 days following a decrease in cellulose consumption was also studied in a discovery and a validation cohort.

A variety of microbial taxa were detected within the colonic mucosa of mice on the HC, LC, and HCR10 diets. Although several could be identified to genus level, the majority could not be identified confidently beyond the family level. Several bacterial families were detected in increased quantities in the colonic mucosa of mice on the HC diet compared to LC (Figure 8A). This fiber-dependent augmentation of microbial richness was persistent up to 10 days of reversal to the low cellulose diet (HCR10). A tendency toward increased OTU richness was also observed in the HC group compared to LC, but was diminished by 10 days reversal (Figure 8B). The HC OTU richness was on average 242 OTUs, while HCR10 and LC had a same average of 226.



Figure 8 Cellulose related increase in microbial richness. A. High cellulose (12.5%, HC) diet stimulated a significantly increased number of detectable families compared to low cellulose (2.5%, LC). This separation persisted 10 days following reversal (HCR10). B.
The OTU counts of species were slightly increased in the HC group compared to LC, but not in the reversal group (HCR10). p values represent two tailed non-paired T test.

PCoA showed a distinct separation between the HC and LC group communities (Figure 9). HCR10 samples clustered between the LC and the HC microbiome, indicating partial reversal of the cellulose-induced separation following 10 days on low cellulose diet. Cage effects did not influence community separation within the groups.

The most abundant family level taxon changes mirrored the PCoA results (Figure 8), in which the HC and LC groups appeared to be distinctly different from one another, and the HCR10 group was intermediate to the two others, but perhaps closer to the LC group.



Figure 9 Cellulose induced shifts in the composition of the gut microbiome. Principle coordinates analysis (PCoA) shows separation of the colonic mucosal microbiome on high cellulose diet (● high cellulose [12.5%]; n=5). This separation decreased by 10 days of reversal (▲ 10 days reversal from high cellulose diet [HCR10]; n=5) compared to controls (■ control [2.5% cellulose] diet; n=10). Individual animals did not show separation depending on cage origin.

Two phyla (Actinobacteria and Tenericutes) were significant increased and diminished in abundance, respectively in the HC group compared to control (LC). Only members of the phylum Actinobacteria showed persistently decreased abundance after 10 days of reversal (Table 6). An example of this can be seen in Figure 10, where an Olsenella-like OTU (i.e. OTU 898) demonstrated significantly decreased abundance in the HC and HCR10 groups relative to controls (LC).



Figure 10 Boxplots depicting shifts in OTU abundance following diet reversal. A stratified approach was used to identify transient changes in OTUs. Each of the OTUs depicted differed significantly between the HC and the LC treatment, as well as between the HCR10 and the HC groups, or between the HCR10 and the LC groups.

Our discovery cohort indicated a decrease in the family level abundance differences between the HC and the LC groups following 10 days of reversal to the LC diet from HC (Figure 11). The validation experiments conformed these results. There were 10 distinguishable families with significant abundance difference between the HC and the LC groups. This number decreased to 6 families by 10 days of reversal (HCR10) with overall higher p values than in the HC-LC comparisons (data not shown). Persistent family abundance differences in the HC and the HCR10 groups, when compared to the LC group, were in Coriobacteriaceae (decrease), Peptostreptococcaceae and Clostridiaceae (increase) (Table).



Figure 11 A. Relative abundance of the most common families within the colonic mucosal samples of the discovery group. Altered relative abundance of bacterial families was presented upon high cellulose (HC) diet compared to control (Low cellulose, LC). This alteration diminished following 10 day reversal (HCR10). B. Relative abundance of the five most common (and the unclassified) families within the colonic mucosal samples. The HC group is more different from the LC than the 10 day reversal dietary group (HCR10). C. Abundance variation in the 10 most abundant bacterial families between the dietary groups. A trend for reversal in abundance can be seen in most of the taxa by 10 days of reversal (HCR10) from the high cellulose diet (HC) in relationship to the low cellulose (LC) group.

Table 6 The effects of cellulose supplementation on colonic mucosa associated bacterial phyla and families. Actinobacteria was significantly modified in abundance secondary to increased amounts of dietary cellulose (HC: high [12.5%] cellulose vs. LC: low [2.5%] cellulose), and separated at 10 days of reversal (HCR10) from the LC group as well. There were three families (Coriobacteriaceae, Peptostreptococcaceae and Clostridiaceae) with significant and persistent abundance difference on HC and HCR10 compared to controls (LC) following the temporary cellulose supplementation. p values represent two tailed nonpaired T test, U values represent two tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test (ns: not).

				HC vs. LC		HCR10 vs. LC	
	LC	НС	HCR10	р	U	Р	U
PHYLUM							
Actinobacteria	0.365988	0.115575	0.088057	0.010551	0.0193	0.002612	0.0007
FAMILY							
Coriobacteriaceae	0.365988	0.071547	0.055036	0.002391	0.0007	0.001153	0.0007
Peptostreptococcaceae	0	1.733627	0.093561	2.77E-08	na	0.008005	na
Clostridiaceae	0.156852	1.056687	1.172262	0.001377	0.0013	0.047661	ns

S1	gnit	icant,	, na:	not	app	lical	ble

4.2 ω-6 FAT DIET REVERSAL AND ITS EFFECT IN MURINE STUDIES

4.2.1 Reversal from ω-6 fat diet protected against colitis

Mice fed for 50 days with high ω -6 fat diet exhibited significantly higher body fat compared to controls. This body composition difference was lost following 40 days of reversal (ω 6-R40; Figure 12A). In the meantime, dietary reversal from high ω -6 fat diet induced prolonged protection against DSS-induced colitis. The ω 6-R40 animals displayed lower body weight loss (Figure 12B) and lower histologic severity of colitis than control (Figure 12C-E). These findings were replicated in independent experiments.



Figure 12 ω -6 fat diet dependent protection against colitis. (A) qMRI measurements showed significantly increased fat composition following ω -6 fat dietary intake in mice (ω 6-P80) compared to controls (C-P80), which diminished after 40 days of reversal (C-P120, compared to ω 6-R40). (n=14-8-15-11, respectively). (B) However, 5 days following 5-day-DSS-exposure (2%), the ω 6-R40 group lost less weight compared to control (C-P120) (n=5-5). (C-E) ω 6-R40 group had milder tissue damage upon DSS challenge compared to controls. (C) Histological severity of colitis was higher in control compared to ω 6-R40. (D-E) A greater degree of tissue damage and inflammatory cell infiltration was observed in control colons compared to ω 6-R40 (magnification x200). Error bars represent standard error of the mean (60). *p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.001, unpaired *t* test.

4.2.2 Protection against colitis was ω-6 and reversal dependent

We were interested to investigate whether the colitis protective effect was specific to ω -6 or whether the transient pediatric consumption of any type of fat would induce a similar phenotype. Using a high milk fat (MF) diet instead of ω -6 fat, we observed the opposite response. The transiently MF fed mice lost more weight upon DSS challenge than controls (Figure 13A). Thereafter, we sought to establish whether exposure to high ω -6 is sufficient to protect against colitis, or if dietary reversal to control diet is necessary to establish the phenotype. Without dietary reversal, mice had a similar degree of weight loss as controls upon DSS challenge at both P90 (60 days of ω -6 feeding) and P120 (90 days of ω -6 feeding) (Figure 13B-C).

The velocity and extent of weight loss was similar in both the ω -6 and milk-fat reversal groups (Figure 13D).



Figure 13 Protection against colitis is ω-6 fat dependent and associated with reversal. (A)
 Using milk fat (MF) diet instead of ω-6 fat diet, the reversal group (MF-R40) developed
 more severe colitis compared to control (C-P120). (n=5-5) (B-C) ω-6 high fat dietary group and control mice showed similar response to DSS without reversal. There was no

significant difference in body weight changes between the dietary groups (P90; n=7 or P120; n=5). (D) Weight changes following dietary reversal (at p80) showed similar velocity of weight loss in both of the different fat supplemented groups (MF or ω -6) within 10-13 days being on control diet followed by weight gain. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (60). **p<0.01, unpaired *t* test.

4.2.3 ω6-reversal did not affect other models of colitis

We examined the effects of the transient high ω -6 feeding in both IL-10-/mice,(109) and in the adoptive transfer model of CD4+, CD45RB^{hi}+ T cells into *Rag1*-/mice.(110) The nutritional intervention did not have any significant effect on these chronic models of colitis (data not shown).

4.2.4 The gut microbiome of ω6-reversed mice transmitted the colitis suppression

We were interested to elucidate whether the gut microbiome of ω 6-R40 mice may be functionally modified to transfer protection against chemically induced colitis. We collected fecal material from transiently high ω -6 fat fed and control mice and transferred it into germfree mice (fecal microbiota transplantation). The transplanted animals were then exposed to DSS to examine the effects of the dietary intervention induced microbiome changes on acute colitis. The recipients of the ω 6-R40 microbiome had a 100% survival rate compared to a 60% survival in controls (Figure 14A). Colons retained their lengths and exhibited less severe colitis even in the survived ω 6-R40 mice compared to controls (Figure 14B-C).



Figure 14 Microbial changes following transient ω -6 fat diet. (A-C) Germfree murine recipients of feces from the reversed high fat dietary group (ω 6-R40) were protected against colitis. After initiation of DSS treatment, (A) increased mortality in the control group was

observed (C-P120) compared to the ω 6-R40 group. (B) Histological colitis severity was less and (C) colons length remained longer in ω 6-R40 compared to C-P120.

4.2.5 The microbiome of ω6-reversed mice segregated from control

Analysis of the gut microbiome revealed separation between the dietary groups. Unweighted principal component analysis of colonic mucosal microbiomes showed a segregation of mice transiently fed with high ω -6 fat diet from controls even after 40 days of dietary reversal (Figure 15D). Upon examination of the 20 most abundant genera in the microbiomes (Figure 15E), only the *Enterococcus* genus showed a significant decrease in ω 6-R40 group compared to control (p=0.0079). At the species level, the abundance of *Hespellia porcina*, *Enterococcus faecalis*, *Clostridium innocuum* and *Oscillibacter* species decreased in the reversal group (ω 6-R40) compared to control (p=0.0317, 0.0159, 0.0159 and 0.0159 respectively) (table not shown).



Figure 15 (D) Unweighted principal component analysis (PCA) of the colonic mucosal microbiomes showed separation between the experimental groups, which persisted after 40 days of reversal from high ω -6 fat diet. (n=5-5). (E) Genera (most abundant 20) level microbiome separation between the ω 6-R40 and control groups. Only *Enterococcus* abundance was statistically significantly lower in the ω 6-R40 group. **p<0.01, unpaired *t* test.

4.2.6 $Cxcr5^+CD4^+T$ cells were suppressed in ω 6-reversed mice

We next explored how the colonic epithelium/mucosa was influenced by a transient consumption of high ω -6 fat diet. DNA methylation specific amplification microarrays (MSAM) and gene expression microarrays on isolated colonic mucosa were employed to interrogate persistent diet induced epigenetic changes.(33) Even though these high throughput approaches did not yield statistically significant results (data not shown), we observed a small reduction of *Cxcr5* expression in the colonic mucosa of ω 6-reversed mice. We hypothesized that *Cxcr5* transcripts may have originated from mucosa associated leukocytes derived from mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs) rather than from epithelial cells (which generally comprise >90% of the cell population in our colonic mucosal scrapings). Flow cytometric analysis of different T cell subsets confirmed a significant reduction in the numbers of Cxcr5⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in the MLNs of ω 6-R40 animals in independent experiments (Figure 16A-B).

4.2.7 Cxcr5 ligand B-lymphocyte chemo-attractant (or Cxcl13) modulated colitis susceptibility

The observed decrease in the number of $Cxcr5^+$ $CD4^+$ T cells implicated the importance of *Cxcr5* and its ligand B-lymphocyte chemo-attractant (or Cxcl13) in murine acute colitis. Therefore, we examined the effect of Cxcl13 antibody (ab) treatment in the severity of DSS-induced colitis. Cxcl13 ab treated mice had a tendency to loose less weight during DSS challenge (Figure 3C). Additionally, we observed increased colonic length and decreased colitis severity in the Cxcl13 ab treated mice compared to isotype controls (Figure 16D-E), indicating that the inhibition of *Cxcr5* signaling is protective against murine acute colitis.

4.2.8 CXCL13 levels in the plasma of IBD patients

Finally, we sought to establish whether the CXCR5-CXCL13 pathway may be activated in human IBD based on our murine experiments. CXCL13 was measured in the blood of untreated pediatric patients with UC, CD, and controls. Plasma samples were collected at the time of diagnostic endoscopy. Plasma concentration of CXCL13 was

significantly elevated in children with treatment naive CD with a similar trend in UC, compared to controls (Figure 16F).



Figure 16 Cxcr5-Cxcl13 immunologic pathway revealed to play an important role in DSSinduced colitis upon transient ω -6 fat diet. (77) Flow cytometry showed significantly decreased number of Cxcr5⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in the mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN), but not in the spleens (SPL) of ω 6-R40 compared to C-P120 (n=3-3 animals, 2 MLNs per mice, altogether 6 lymph nodes per group). (C-E) Cxcl13 antibody (ab) treatment protected mice against DSS-induced colitis (n=5-5). Arrows indicate intraperitoneal ab treatment. Cxcl13 ab treated mice had a tendency for decreased weight loss during DSS-challenge. This finding was associated with longer colons and decreased histologic severity of colitis in the Cxcl13 ab treated group compared to controls. (F) Significantly increased CXCL13 concentration was measured in serum of treatment naïve human pediatric CD patients, with a similar trend in UC. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (60). *p<0.05, **p<0.01, unpaired *t* test. CD: Crohn's disease; UC: ulcerative colitis.

4.3 Clinical results of FMT

4.3.1 FMT treatment outcomes of CDIF patients

All 4 CDIF patients without underlying disease (P2, P4, P5 and P9) had resolution of their symptoms for more than 2 months following a single FMT.

Out of the 6 patients with complicating clinical conditions, only 2 (P6 and P8) had obvious clinical benefit from *C. difficile* directed antibiotic therapies prior to FMT. These patients responded well to a single FMT, including the youngest solid organ transplant patient receiving FMT to date (on concurrent immunotherapy with tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil). However, both patients were treated with antibiotics for upper respiratory infections within the 2-month follow up period and developed recurrent CDIF. Both received repeat intra-gastric FMT with full resolution of their symptoms for over 2 months.

The UC patient (P1) required FMT 3 times to clear CDIF, but still had colectomy during his subsequent clinical course in spite of being free from *C. difficile*. Our second patient with UC (P10; maintenance mesalamine therapy only) had rapid resolution of her symptoms after FMT for 9 weeks, then experienced a *C. difficile*-positive flare of her UC and was started on steroids and 6-mercaptopurine along with oral vancomycin for 2 weeks. She responded well to these interventions and subsequently tested negative for *C. difficile* 2 weeks after stopping vancomycin.

There was no obvious clinical benefit from FMT in the CD patient in-spite of having a negative *C. difficile* test 2 months after the treatment.

One patient (P3) was diagnosed with poorly managed constipation and continued *C*. *difficile* carriage during her second enema FMT.

4.3.2 Clinical outcomes of patients with ulcerative colitis

Response and progression of UC patients was monitored by PUCAI during the protocol. Clinical remission was defined as PUCAI≤15. Endoscopic disease severity (Mayo score) was recorded at the initiation of the trial (colonoscopy) and at the 14-week time

point (flexible sigmoidoscopy). Table contains the PUCAI score and endoscopic Mayo score system.

DUCALSooro	Endosconia Maya Score			
I UCAI SCOLE	Endoscopic Mayo Score			
Abdominal pain: 0-10	Normal or inactive colitis: 0			
Rectal bleeding: 0-30	Mild colitis: mild friability, erythema, decrease in vascularity: 1			
Steel consistency 0, 10	Moderate colitis: friability, marked erythema, vascular pattern			
Stool consistency. 0-10	absent, erosions: 2			
Number of stools per 24 hours: 0-15	Severe colitis: ulcerations and spontaneous bleeding: 3			
Nocturnal stool: 0-10				
Activity level: 0-10				

Table 7 Pediatric ulcerative colitis activity index (PUCAI) and endoscopic Mayo score.

Serial FMT transiently supported immunotherapy withdrawal in pediatric UC patients in our small pilot study. The FMT enabled all 3 patients to be symptom-free for at least 4 weeks following FMT and supported the withdrawal of immunotherapy (no treatment other than mesalamine) for more than 105 days in all. The number of FMT treatments significantly correlated with the time of being immunotherapy-free (r=0.998; p=0.04).

Following our promising pilot study, we developed an IND approved phase 1 clinical trial providing FMT for six patients. Only one patient (P001) remained in the trial for the first six months. All others had to be withdrawn from the study according to exclusion criteria for worsening symptoms. The single patient (P001) with prolonged remission (PUCAI \leq 15) throughout the course of the study had endoscopic remission at enrollment (Mayo 1), and 2 weeks after the last weekly enema (Mayo 0; 14 weeks of the trial). However, subjects with pseudopolyps, and/or moderate to severe endoscopic disease (5 patients, Mayo 2-3) developed moderate to severe symptoms within 2 days to 8 weeks and were withdrawn from the study. The length of clinical remission was negatively correlated with mucosal disease activity at the initiation of FMT (r=-0.845, Spearman: p=0.033; Figure 17).



Figure 17 Mucosal disease activity and therapeutic response to FMT in the phase 1 FMT study. The length of clinical remission negatively correlated with mucosal disease activity at the initiation of FMT (r=-0.845, two-tailed Spearman: p=0.03). Endoscopic Mayo score was arbitrarily increased by 1 if pseudopolyp/s were detected.

Two of the patients withdrawn from the study had colectomy for steroid dependent disease within one year from the time of dropout. One patient's clinical course was complicated by cytomegalovirus (CMV), which was diagnosed at the colonoscopy prior to the first FMT. Following failure of FMT, she had limited response to ganciclovir, 6-mercaptopurine (6MP) and infliximab (IFX), entered a phase II adult trial of an experimental drug. Currently, she is in clinical remission. One patient had poor weight gain on 6MP and low dose intermittent steroids with mild clinical disease activity and has been recently advanced to IFX therapy. One geographically distant referral patient was lost to follow-up.

The single patient with positive response to the treatments remained in remission on monthly FMT via enema up to 6 months into the protocol. Unfortunately, he was unable to receive more treatments secondary to the trial being placed on hold for a serious adverse event in another patient (see below). Nevertheless, he remained in clinical remission off of any therapy for more than 3 months, with a normal fecal calprotectin (110.9 mcg/g, ULN=162.9 mcg/g) at 2 months after the last FMT. Later, he developed bloody diarrhea, which responded to weaning steroids and oral mesalamine therapy.

A summary of all our patients' treatment can be seen in Table 8. Endoscopic and histological photos captured before and after treatment is shown in Figure 18.

Table 8 The number of days in remission negatively correlated with the initial Mayo score of patients enrolled into our pilot trial (P1-3) and phase I study (P001-006). Altogether 178 FMT were delivered in our center. Patients received various numbers of FMT. Endoscopic evaluation (colonoscopy and flexible sigmoidoscopy) with Mayo scoring was completed on the first day of the protocol and at 14 weeks (2 weeks after the weekly enemas). Patients in remission or with mild disease activity (Mayo score 0-1) stayed in remission and completed the 14-week evaluation with Mayo score=0. Patients who had moderate disease activity (Mayo score 2-3) or presented with pseudopolyp developed UC symptoms and were withdrawn from the study (* and [#] labels the patients who were enrolled in both the pilot study and this trial one year apart)

Study	Treatment #	Mayo score	Mayo score after	Days spent in
ID	(rescue enemas)	before FMT	14-week FMT	remission
P001*	32 (1)	1	0	204
P002	10	2		10
P003 [#]	17(1)	1 (P)		21
P004	9	2		9
P005	2	3		2
P006	24 (5)	1 (P)		58
<i>P1</i>	30	0	0	261
P2*	25	1	0	159
P3 [#]	22	0	0	105



Figure 18 The endoscopic and histological picture of patient colons from this phase 1 (A) and our prior pilot (B) studies. For clinical details see Table 8.

4.3.3 Adverse events monitoring

The risks of FMT in pediatric patients are unknown, but based on the experience in adults with bacterial colitis FMT is usually well tolerated and the risks are believed to include: possible transmission of a bacterial or viral disease, allergic reaction, worsening of CD related symptoms (bleeding, pain, bowel perforation, or rupture, infection/sepsis), and possible but unlikely death. There is one report of a 61 year old male with CD, refractory *C. difficile* colitis and a history of multiple episodes of *E. coli* bacteremia, who developed *E. coli* bacteremia within 24 hours of FMT.(111) Given the time course it seems likely that the FMT contributed to this development of bacteremia; therefore bacteremia is included as a potential risk. Adverse events are possible, but uncommon with nasogastric tube use, including vomiting and rarely aspiration. The largest systematic review summarized 67 published studies (overall 844 patients -76.3% with recurrent CDIF and 13.2% with IBD).(68) The cure rate was 90.7% in CDIF; and beneficial effects were reported in 78.4% of cases with IBD. 7 publications involved pediatric patients. The following adverse events were reported: fever, rectal discomfort, abdominal pain, nausea, bloating and headache.

During the phase 1 IND study of pediatric ulcerative colitis patients, 101 FMT were delivered. Seventeen adverse events occurred (

Table and Table). Adverse events included: fever, cough, vomiting, runny nose, throat ache, nausea, abdominal pain (solicited) and altered laboratory parameters including decreased sodium, decreased hemoglobin, increased AST and ALT (unsolicited). The probable and possibly related AEs included fever, abdominal pain and decreased sodium level. Additional AEs, such as cough, runny nose and throat ache were considered unrelated to FMT, and were attributed to a possible upper respiratory infection. Nausea was present on the first day in two cases unrelated to FMT, probably secondary to anesthesia.

During the study, there was one serious adverse event (SAE; Grade 3: fever and abdominal pain), which required hospitalization. This SAE was possibly related to the treatment. Based on further evaluation with endoscopy, we concluded that the SAE was probably induced by the fecal preparation that was received by the patient with severe colonic mucosal disease activity. This may have been an allergic response, or non-specific transient, self-resolving inflammatory exacerbation leading to fever. Nevertheless, the DRC and the FDA placed the trial on hold, and no further FMT was given to any patient.

	Total #	Percentage (%)
Adverse Events	17	100
Adverse Event Group		
Solicited	13	76.5
Unsolicited	4	23.5
Adverse Event Grade		
Grade 1 (mild)	12	70.6
Grade 2 (moderate)	3	17.6
Grade 3 (severe)	2	11.8
Grade 4 (life threatening)	0	0
Adverse Event Relatedness		
Unrelated	7	41.2
Unlikely	5	29.4
Possible	4	23.5
Probable	1	5.9
Definite	0	0

Table 9 The frequ	lency of adverse e	events during the	IND clinical	trial with	pediatric
	ulcera	tive colitis patier	nts.		

Table 10 Category, severity	and relativeness	of adverse e	events of patient	s during the IND
	annroved	protocol		

Study ID	Protocol Day	AE Event	AE Group	AE Grade	AE		
					Relatedness		
IMT_UC_	Week 12	Cough	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unrelated		
P006	Week 12	Running nose	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unrelated		
	Week 12	Throat ache	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unrelated		
	Week 12	Vomit	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unrelated		
IMT_UC_	Week 1 Day 6 (Day 6)	Fever	Solicited	Grade 2 (moderate)	Unrelated		
P007							
IMT_UC_	Week 2 Day 2 (Day 9)	Fever	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Possible		
P009	Week 2 Day 2 (Day 9)	Cough	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unrelated		
	Week 2 Day 2 (Day 9)	Vomit	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unrelated		
	Week 1 Day 1 (Day 1)	Nausea	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unlikely		
IMT_UC_	Week 1 Day 1 (Day 1)	Nausea	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unlikely		
P010							
IMT_UC_	Week 1 Day 1 (Day 1)	Nausea	Solicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unlikely		
P011	Week 8	Fever	Solicited	Grade 2 (moderate)	Possible		
	Week 8	Fever	Solicited	Grade 3 (severe)	Probably		
	Week 8	Decreased sodium	Unsolicited	Grade 2 (moderate)	Possible		
	Week 8	Decreased	Unsolicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unlikely		
		hemoglobin					
	Week 8	Increased AST	Unsolicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unlikely		
	Week 8	Increased ALT	Unsolicited	Grade 1 (mild)	Unlikely		
	Week 8	Abdominal pain	Solicited	Grade 3 (severe)	Possible		

4.4 Microbial studies of FMT

Based on encouraging findings of clinical remission and the current literature about gut microbiome and its role in intestinal inflammation, we initiated microbial studies on stool samples of the same pediatric patients with CDIF and UC during the FMT. This approach is unique in testing FMT as primary (not adjuvant) treatment modality for pediatric UC and FMT; and how this treatment influences the gut microbiome by time.

4.4.1 Increased alpha-diversity following FMT in CDIF patients

We examined the samples of those CDIF patients who did not have underlying clinical conditions and uniformly responded well to FMT (P2, P4, P5 and P9). Species richness increased significantly (p=0.0025) following FMT in the recipients, even surpassing that of the donor (Figure 19A). Bacterial Shannon's diversity similarly had a significant (p=0.0010) increase upon FMT in the pediatric recipients. The diversity was beyond that of the donor (Figure 19B). The post FMT group had species richness and diversity similar to that of the healthy group.



Figure 19 Microbiome responses to FMT. Alpha-diversity showed exponentially increased number of observed species (richness, p=0.0025) and diversity (Shannon's, p=0.0010) following FMT. The CDIF post-FMT group had increased richness (left panel) and diversity (right panel) similar to those seen in the healthy control groups. Statistical analysis revealed no significant difference between the healthy control group and the CDIF post-FMT group for richness (p=ns) and diversity (p=ns). The CDIF post-FMT group also had significantly increased diversity levels when compared to the donor group (p=0.0010).

4.4.2 Taxonomical changes upon FMT in CDIF

At the taxonomic level, *Bacteroidetes* increased in abundance following FMT in children without disease, as opposed to the IBD patients who did not respond clinically to the FMT (Figure 20). Specifically, several OTUs most closely related to the genus

Bacteroides were found to be more abundant in the post FMT group. The OTU most closely related to *Bacteroides uniformis* had the most significant (p=0.0049) increase in abundance after FMT treatment. The other significantly increased OTUs post FMT were those belonging to the family Lachnospiraceae.



Figure 20 Bar-graph of taxonomical changes in CDIF patients prior and after FMT compared to the donor microbial composition.

4.4.3 Microbial analyses of UC patients

Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of fecal bacterial community composition data generated from 16S rRNA sequencing revealed that UC samples prior to FMT did not clearly separate from the donor. However, those did cluster differently from healthy pediatric microbiomes (Figure 21). Interestingly, P001 (Figure 21*) separated the farthest from the donor in spite of having received FMT from the same donor one year prior to this study enrollment (he was part of our discovery trial of reference (99)).



Figure 21 Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) of (unweighted Unifrac distances of bacterial community composition as depicted by 16S rRNA gene sequencing of fecal samples upon serial FMT. Prior to FMT, the microbiomes of UC patients separated from those of healthy children but did not separate clearly from donor. Surprisingly, patient (P001*) who received FMT previously from the same donor shared the least degree of similarity with the donor as compared to the other UC patients.

4.4.4 Microbiome shifts upon FMT

We had the ability to study microbiome responses to intense FMT over a 6-month period in one patient only (Figure 22). The fecal microbiome of P001 shifted towards that of healthy children. Nevertheless, the patient's microbiome remained distant from both the donor and other healthy children living in the same geographical area, even 6 months into therapy.



Figure 22 Fecal microbiome composition in our patient with prolonged remission (P001) moved towards both the donor and healthy pediatric microbiomes during the 6 months of the FMT series.

4.4.5 Prolonged microbiome effects of serial FMT in two patients

Two patients participated both in our discovery FMT trial(99) and this study, with more than a year separating the two. Both patients received their FMT series from the same donor during an overlapping time period. This provided an unprecedented opportunity for us to examine the prolonged effects of an extended course of FMT (series of 25 and 22 FMT, respectively). Upon serial FMT, these patients experienced normalization of their microbiomes, characterized by large shifts toward a state resembling healthy pediatric composition (Figure 23, arrows). In contrast, upon suspension of FMT the microbiomes of the UC patients shifted back to their original state in a matter of 10-12 months.



Figure 23 PCoA revealed shift towards the microbiome profiles of healthy children upon FMT in patients with long-term follow-up. Within 7 to 10 weeks (P003 and P001, respectively) FMT patients clustered close to microbiome of healthy individuals. However, the lack of treatment (within 10 to 12 months) resulted in a shift back to original state in both patients.

We also examined the prolonged microbiome responses in detail from both of the UC patients at the level of the operational taxonomic unit (OTU) level and compared those to those which were observed in donor stool (Figure 24). Two weeks after 25 FMTs had been administered, 17% of the OTUs detected in P001 at baseline (prior to FMT) remained. Meanwhile, 12% of the OTUs detected were from the donor. Surprisingly, 71% of the OTUs were novel or unknown origin (i.e. not detected either in the recipient prior to FMT, or in the donor). Twelve months after the last FMT, these numbers shifted. Thirty two percent (32%) were original patient OTUs (detected prior to FMT treatment), 13% were of likely donor origin, and 55% were novel or unknown origin. In addition to shifts in the potential origin of OTUs, there were notable changes in OTU level richness with an increase observed at 2 weeks, but a decline observed 12 months after the last FMT. Similar changes occurred in P003. Two weeks after last FMT in P003, the abundance of OTUs by origin was the following: 28% preserved from prior to FMT, 13% originated from donor and 59% were novel OTUs. In this case the fraction of OTUs did not shift significantly at

10 months after last FMT (32%, 10% and 58%, respectively). In the meantime OTU richness changes were very similar to those observed in P001 (Figure 24).



Figure 24 Proportions of OTUs by known origin following FMT (left panel). Surprisingly, the highest proportion of OTUs observed in both patients observed were of novel or unknown origin, arguing for reconstitution of the recipient microbiomes as opposed to transplantation of donor bacteria. In the meantime, about 10% of donor bacteria appear to engraft in a prolonged fashion in pediatric UC patients following FMT. OTU number changes upon serial FMT (right panel). Two weeks following FMT, the OTU numbers increased from 177 to 532, and from 338 to 584, respectively. However, cessation of treatments resulted a drop in OTU numbers close to the original state (to 252 and 286 OTU, respectively).

4.4.6 Remarkable bacterial composition changes in pediatric CDIF after a single FMT

We next focused our attention to bacterial operational taxonomic unit (OTU) changes secondary to FMT. OTU richness significantly increased in the CDIF group (Figure 25; p=0.0286) 8 weeks after FMT. We compared the OTU changes secondary to FMT in CDIF patients to a small cohort of pediatric UC patients who received an intense course of FMT (22-30 treatments) over 6-12 weeks from the same universal donor as our CDIF patients.

Interestingly, there was only a tendency toward increased OTU numbers in UC in response to serial FMT (Figure 25). This finding indicated an increased microbiome change upon a single FMT in CDIF compared to that from serial FMT in UC.

We also examined OTU persistence, and donor engraftment in CDIF recipients secondary to FMT. We determined OTU persistence in healthy children over 2 months to facilitate the interpretation of FMT-induced microbiome variation. Healthy children retained an average of 40% of their OTUs between repeated stool collections over an 8week period (Figure 25). Compared to healthy children, the OTU profiles of CDIF patients retained a highly significantly (Figure 25; $p=3.8 \times 10^{-10}$) lower proportion of their original OTUs following FMT. Remarkably, only 1% of the pre-FMT OTUs were detected 8-9 weeks after a single stool transplant upon resolution of CDIF. OTU retention was significantly lower in CDIF than in the UC patients (Figure 25; 1% vs. 18%; p=0.0024). As for donor engraftment, CDIF patient retained 26% donor OTUs at 8-9 weeks, which were not detected in their stool prior to FMT. Donor engraftment after a single FMT was significantly higher in the CDIF patients ~2 months after the treatment than in UC patients only 2 weeks after a series of FMTs from the same donor (Figure 25; 26% vs. 11%; p=0.00015). The proportion of novel (neither present in pre-FMT recipient, nor the donor) OTU was remarkably high in both CDIF and UC, but this did not show significant difference between the two patient groups (Figure 25; 73% vs. 71%; p=ns).

There was no correlation between the proportion of preserved OTUs and the age of individuals in the CDIF, UC, or control groups.





was significantly lower in both rCDIF and UC patients compared to controls (p=3.8x10⁻¹⁰ and p=1.67x10⁻⁵ respectively). rCDIF patients also had significantly lower OTU preservation than UC (p=0.0024). Additionally, donor engraftment (26% average) 2 months after FMT was significantly higher (p=1.49x10⁻⁴) in rCDIF than in 2 weeks after a series of FMT in UC (11% average; right panel). In the meantime, there was large number of novel OTUs detectable in both rCDIF (73% average) and UC patients (71% average) after FMT, which did not differ significantly (p=0.458) between the two groups.

4.4.7 Normalization of microbiome composition (beta-diversity) upon FMT in CDIF patients

Using the same universal donor in 9/10 cases provided a unique opportunity for us to examine the microbial changes upon a single fecal transplant. Prior to FMT all CDIF patient clustered distantly from the donor and healthy children on PCoA, with the exception of one patient with overflow diarrhea and *C. difficile* carriage. On average the stool communities of pre FMT patients shared 9.8% similarity with the universal donor and 6% similarity with healthy children, based on unweighted Unifrac distances. Post-FMT, patients shared 30% similarity with the healthy children and 31% similarity with the universal donor, both of which were significant findings (p= 5.37×10^{-9} and 3.65×10^{-99} , respectively). When comparing the other healthy group's gut microbiome to CDIF patients, the two groups were 7.5% similar preFMT and 29.8% similar postFMT (p= 4.3×10^{-36}).

The CDIF patients without any underlying clinical condition responded to FMT with major microbiome shifts after 8 weeks. Recipient microbiomes clustered between healthy children and the microbiomes of the single standardized donor following FMT (Figure 26). One of these patients (patient 4) was found to be positive for *C. difficile* 4 months after FMT during an upper respiratory infection, without gastrointestinal complaints. He was considered an asymptomatic carrier. Interestingly, asymptomatic carriage of *C. difficile* did not significantly modify microbiome composition in this child.



Figure 26 Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA) revealed a major shift (orange arrow) in rCDIF (recurrent CDIF) patient microbiomes upon FMT to a similar composition of healthy children and donor samples. Patient 4 (*) was found to be an asymptomatic carrier for *C. difficile* 4 months after FMT. Apparently, this carrier state clustered with recipient microbiomes at 2 months after FMT. When compared to UC patients receiving a series of FMT, microbiome shifts were greater in rCDIF (orange arrow) than in UC (pink arrow). [n=4 rCDIF, 3 UC, 3 individuals in healthy group 1 and 13 healthy group 2]

4.4.8 Microbiome shifts in CDIF following FMT are more pronounced than in UC When comparing fecal microbiome responses to FMT, we found a more pronounced composition shift in the CDIF patients than in UC (Figure 26). Importantly, CDIF patients who received just one FMT treatment had larger shift compared to UC patients who received serial FMT.

4.5 MUCOSAL TRANSCRIPTOME AND EPITHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION CHANGES AFTER THE FMT SERIES

Examined the samples of our pilot study subjects, RNA sequencing demonstrated that 742 genes decreased in expression (>1.5 fold decrease in expression, false discovery rate [FDR]<0.05) in the rectal mucosa of the patients (n=3) 2 weeks following FMT (detailed data not shown). Only 12 genes increased significantly in terms of relative expression. Down-regulated genes were compared by gene ontology enrichment analysis to a control set of human genes lacking evidence of changes in gene expression following

FMT (FDR>0.97). Genes linked to leukocyte activation and mitotic cell cycle progression were down-regulated. More specifically, 7 biological processes were highly significantly (FDR $<10^{-5}$) enriched by more than 2-fold in association with the down-regulated genes, compared to the control genes (Figure 27).



Figure 27 Biological processes with more than 2 fold over-representation (FDR $<10^{-5}$) in the down-regulated genes compared to control following serial FMTs in UC patients.

Based on these findings, we decided to functionally assess the consequences of FMT in the colonic mucosa of the patients in respect to mitotic activity changes. We found that 2 out of the 3 patients showed evidence that epithelial mitoses had been reduced by more than 50 percent (Figure 28).



Figure 28 Epithelial Cell Mitosis Suppression Following FMT. In 2 out of 3 patients, the numbers of epithelial mitoses (blinded examination of 500 epithelial cells) decreased by more than 50% following high intensity FMT. Mitoses were highlighted by histone (H3) immunohistochemistry. Magnification 40x

5 CONCLUSIONS

5.1 Cellulose supplementation early in life ameliorates acute colitis in adult mice

Murine pediatric cellulose supplementation induces transient trophic, anticolitic and microbiome-modifying effects according to our study. The cellulose-stimulated lengthening of the colons persisted for 10 days, which was associated with protection against DSS. Additionally, we found that the cellulose-dependent trophic and anticolitic effects were transient by being lost 40 days after reversal of cellulose supplementation. This later result highlights the remarkable capacity for the large bowel towards anatomical reconstitution in mammals during young adulthood (between P90 and P120). The means by which DSS provokes colitis is still of debate, but recent studies indicate that it induces hyperosmotic stress leading to NF-kB activation through the posttranslational methylation of protein phosphatase 2A.(112) Regardless, toxin-induced colitis is bound to depend on the toxinamount/mucosal-surface-area ratio. Lengthier colons with larger mucosal surface in the same species are likely to be less vulnerable to the toxin if the animal consumes the same amount. The average surface area increase induced by cellulose supplementation in this dietary model was calculated to be around 30%. Consequently, our study suggests that cellulose supplementation during animal development induces growth of the large intestine, thereby leading to an increased mucosal surface that decreases the toxin to surface-area ratio and ultimately provides protection against noxious insults.

Dietary fibers have been shown to modify both microbial composition and colitis susceptibility in mammals. Therefore, we studied the consequences of dietary cellulose on the colonic mucosal microbiome composition as well. Cellulose supplementation induced a significant microbiome separation by PCoA. Cluster differences were less pronounced following 10 days of reversal to low cellulose, but those were not diminished completely. This observation was true for the increased richness of the microbiome during high cellulose supplementation and 10 days of reversal as well. These findings support the presumption of De Filippo and colleagues (37) that increased dietary fiber consumption may be an important reason for the enhanced stool microbiome richness in rural African children compared to European children. Given that the animals in this work were maintained in the same facility room and even transferred between cages, our results also
indicate that cellulose supplementation dynamically increases the inter-species tolerance within mammalian commensal microbiota thereby inducing increased gut microbial richness within the same geographic environment. This finding contradicts the conclusions of De Filippo and colleagues (37), who suggested that a fiber-rich diet provides means to maintain overall enteral bacterial species richness by sustaining a diverse microbial environment within a geographical location. Rather, cellulose consumption (i.e. fiber-rich diet) can increase intestinal microbiota richness within the same microbial environment and can readily support mucosal protection.

At the phylum level, Actinobacteria decreased persistently during high cellulose supplementation and following 10 days reversal. This finding coincides with observations in *TLR2-/-* mice, which can be more susceptible to colitis than WT.(101) Actinobacteria were present in greater abundance in colonic mucosa of *TLR2-/-* mice similar to human studies on IBD associated microbiome.(56; 113) The decreased abundance of Actinobacteria in our current work was associated with a milder form of DSS colitis, supporting a potential colitic effect for this phylum in mammals.

Three families were modified in a prolonged fashion (in both HC and HCR10) upon cellulose supplementation: Coriobacteriaceae (a family within the phylum Actinobacteria) decreased, and Peptostreptococcaceae and Clostridiaceae increased compared to controls. The abundance of Peptostreptococcaceae and Clostridiaceae increased in human studies examining biopsies and stool samples from chronic pouchitis patients.(114; 115) Intestinal mucosal ulceration and the severity of chronic pouchitis were associated with increased numbers of different species within Peptostreptococcaceae and Clostridiaceae. Based on these findings, it is difficult to interpret the significance of the changes affecting these taxa in our experiments where pre-inflammation (no DSS exposure) microbiome composition was examined. Similar debates about microbiome associations of IBD (i.e. primary change, or secondary effect of inflammation) have been raised.(116)

The overall decline of family level composition variation upon 10-day reversal from high cellulose diet may indicate that the persisting gut morphological changes (i.e. longer colons with larger mucosal surface) may be more important towards colitis protection than the remaining shifts in community composition of the colon in this feeding model. This conclusion is supported by a recent publication highlighting the importance of Allobaculum (a member of the Erysipelotrichaceae) and Paludibacter (a member of the Porphyromonadaceae) as key contributors to DSS colitis sensitivity.(117) We detected reduced abundances of Erysipelotrichaceae and Porphyromonadaceae on high cellulose diet (Figure 6), which could contribute to colitis protection (with less severe colitis). However, most of these changes diminished after 10 days reversal (both in our discovery and validation experiments) suggesting a less important influence of the microbiome on the colitis of the HCR10 mice than their longer large intestinal phenotype.

5.2 Loss of omega-6 fatty acid induced pediatric obesity protects against acute murine colitis

Western diets (usually containing high fat, especially ω -6 fatty acid) have been proposed to increase the risk of IBDs.(35) Dietary ω -6, and its metabolites have been shown to have pro-inflammatory properties and to exaggerate immunological responses in animal models.(118) The increased intake of essential ω -6 fatty acid, such as linoleic acid, has been associated with ulcerative colitis in a prospective human trial.(46) These findings are supported in studies on rodent models of colitis.(119) In the meantime, the effects of transient pediatric exposure to high ω -6 fatty acid on successive colitis susceptibility have not been examined. Early adulthood is the peak for IBD presentation, which indicates the potential importance of pediatric dietary exposures (including increased ω -6 consumption) in the developmental origins of the diseases. In this study, we examined how ω -6 induced transient obesity during pediatric development may impact colitis in young adult mice. On the contrary to our expectations, we found that reversal from ω -6 induced pediatric obesity protected mice from acute colitis in young adulthood. The colitis protection was exclusive to the acute/chemical injury model, since chronic colitis severity was not modulated by the same dietary intervention in both IL-10-/- mice,(109) and in the adoptive transfer model of CD4+, CD45RB^{hi}+ T cells into *Rag1-/-* mice.(110)

The acute colitis protection was specific to ω -6 (corn oil), at least in comparison with saturated fat (milk fat). This finding is consistent with recent work showing that saturated fatty acids (such as palm oil, which is similar to milk fat in fatty acid

composition) augmented small intestinal inflammation in a CD relevant murine model independently of obesity.(120) Additionally, Devkota, et al. found that saturated fat, but not polyunsaturated fat, triggers colitis in genetically susceptible mice in association with the bloom of *Bilophila wadsworthia*.(121) Indeed, clinical studies indicate that the type of dietary fat consumed rather than obesity itself is risk factor for the development of IBD.(35; 122; 123) However, with the experiments in this work, it cannot be ruled out that other immunomodulator substances both in corn oil, or milk fat may have played a role in the observed phenotype modifications. It is important to highlight that the phenotype observed in our work was also dependent on the cessation of increased ω -6 consumption, since obese mice during high ω -6 feeding were not protected from DDS induced colonic inflammation. Importantly, the velocity and extent of weight loss was similar in both the ω -6 and milk-fat reversal groups. Therefore, the colitis protection by transient ω -6 supplementation cannot be explained simply on the basis of weight loss. Rather, ω -6 supplementation during mammalian pediatric development appears to specifically induce a less colitis prone microbiome and host immunophenotype in a prolonged fashion.

Genetic work indicates that the development of IBD can be influenced by diverse [over 163 susceptibility loci (124)], potentially interactive genetic polymorphisms,(125) each of which contribute to the diseases with low penetrance. Monozygotic twin and other epidemiologic studies underscore the involvement of primarily non-genetically modulated, environmentally responsive, intercalating biologic systems.(48) The disease specific disruption of a single biological system, such as the microbiome, appears to be relatively limited in IBD,(56; 126) in agreement with the genetic observations. Rather, the individually small, but interactive dysregulation of multiple biologic systems within the host-microbiome network (127) may lead to the onset of IBD. Therefore, if one wishes to explore the consequences of a potentially critical environmental change in respect to IBD development, then a parallel multi-omic approach is warranted.(30) We set out to examine metagenomic, colonic mucosal and immunologic associations of transient ω -6 feeding induced acute colitis protection. Importantly, the colitis protection could be transmitted by the fecal microbiome into germ free mice underscoring the participation of the microbiome in the dietary intervention induced phenotype. The different genetic background of

germfree recipients in comparison to the donor mice (used in all the other experiments) highlights the translational relevance of the microbiome findings by overarching the boundaries of single mouse strains. *Enterococcus* was specifically decreased in the colonic mucosal microbiome of the ω 6-R40 group (Figure 2E). Recently *Enterococcus* has been shown to trigger colonic inflammation in mouse model experiments.(128; 129) Additionally, increased abundance of *Enterococcus* was found in patients with ulcerative colitis, and it correlated with disease activity and severity.(130) These observations support the potential importance of the ω -6 fat reversal induced decrease of mucosal *Enterococcus* to participate in colitis protection.

In respect to the colonic mucosa, we did not detect significant epigenetic (DNA methylation) and transcriptional changes associated with the examined dietary intervention. However, a trend for decreased mucosal Cxcr5 expression was found in the reversed animals. Count to threshold values for *Cxcr5* were very low suggesting that the signal may have been originated from mucosa associated leukocytes derived from mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) rather than from epithelial cells [which generally comprise >90% of the cell population in the colonic mucosal scrapings (131)]. Multi-parameter flow cytometric analysis of T cell subsets revealed a significant reduction of Cxcr5⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in the MLN of the high ω -6 reversed animals. Cxcr5 and its ligand B-lymphocyte chemoattractant (or Cxcl13) has been shown to orchestrate lymphoid organogenesis and the migration of CD4+ T cells from the mantle zone to the more central regions in lymphoid follicles. The expression of Cxcr5 on CD4+ T cells is induced by the interaction of OX40 (or CD134) and its ligand OX40L, thereby serving as an upstream event for the Cxcr5 dependent T cell migration.(132; 133) Constitutive OX40/OX40L interaction stimulates autoimmune-like diseases, such as interstitial pneumonia and spontaneous colitis.(134) Inhibition of the OX40/OX40L interaction and secondary Cxcr5 expression in CD4+ T cells decreased the severity of DSS-induced colitis in mice.(135) CXCR5+, IL-21 producing CD4+ T lymphocytes have been shown to play an important role in IBD.(136) All these publications indicated that CXCR5-CXCL13 pathway may play in an important role in controlling mammalian intestinal inflammation. Therefore, we examined the effects of anti-Cxcl13 (the ligand of Cxcr5) immunotherapy in modulating DSS colitis. Anti-

Cxcl13 treatment was protective. Consequently, we examined CXCL13 levels in treatment naïve IBD patients. The plasma concentration of CXCL13 was significantly elevated in children at the diagnosis of CD with a similar trend in UC, compared to controls. This result was consistent with our prediction that the CXCL13-CXCR5 pathway may be important in the pathology of IBD. The observed elevation of serum chemokines was not mirrored by gene expression changes at the intestinal mucosal level. Our recent work with treatment naïve pediatric UC colon biopsy samples,(137) and the observations of others in untreated ileal mucosal samples of pediatric IBD patients (127) has not detected differences in *CXCR5*, or *CXCL13* expression compared to controls. These results coincide with our findings in the murine model system of the present work, indicating that the CXCL13-CXCR5 pathway is more relevant for leukocyte than epithelial signaling in respect to IBD development. The lack of colitis protection in the chronic murine models suggests that this specific chemokine signaling is more important in modulating the onset and flares of disease rather than the maintenance of chronic inflammation in IBD.

Chemokines have been recognized as novel therapeutic targets for IBD, but CXCL13 specifically was not implicated.(138) Our results may set the stage for developing CXCL13 directed biologic treatments for the disease group in the future. Interestingly, tofacitinib is an emerging Janus kinase inhibitor utilized in IBD therapy,(139) which has been observed to suppress CXCL13 concentration in synovia of rheumatoid arthritis patients. This finding supports our predicament that the CXCR5-CXCL13 pathway may be a target for future biologic treatments in IBD.(140)

5.3 The manipulation of microbiota as a possible therapeutic option in pediatric gastrointestinal disorders

Similarly to others, we found FMT to be safe and highly effective for the treatment of pediatric recurrent CDIF in patients without complicating clinical conditions. According to the microbial data, we found robust switch in CDIF patients' microbiome following FMT.

As the ulcerative colitis study, our results indicate that FMT is safer and more effective in patients who start the treatments with endoscopic remission (endoscopic Mayo

score 0-1 without pseudopolyps). Indeed, if we included our inception cohort results (99) when examining the relationship between mucosal disease status and response to FMT during withdrawal of immunotherapy, we found an even more significant correlation between endoscopic disease activity at treatment initiation and clinical remission in pediatric UC patients (r=-0.878, two-tailed Spearman: p=0.003; Figure 29).



Figure 29 The length of clinical remission negatively correlated with mucosal disease activity at the initiation of FMT (r=-0.878, two-tailed Spearman: p=0.003).

We hypothesize that this may be related to an inhibition of the dynamic interaction between the gut microbiome and the colonic mucosa during active disease. Such inhibition would limit the success of microbiome based therapeutic interventions in UC during disease flares secondary to host unresponsiveness. Indeed, gene expression and gut microbiome associations have been shown to be decreased in clinically active UC patients compared to controls.(56)

Our phase I withdrawal study is unique in many ways compared to prior trials investigating FMT in UC:

- Our protocol is the only immunotherapy withdrawal study of FMT in UC to date. This characteristic created a strong internal control for therapeutic efficacy of FMT within each patient compared to prednisone treatment.
- 2. All of our patients were children or young adults without any co-morbidity, making the recipients potentially ideal candidates for this experimental treatment.

- The majority of our patients had short disease duration (3-43 months) prior to FMT, which according to Moayyedi et al.(82) may have led to an increase in FMT efficiency.
- 4. 83% (5 out 6) of the recipients received stool from a single donor, limiting biologic variation on the donor side.
- 5. The intensity of FMT therapy was considerably higher than other FMT trials to date.

Overall, fecal transplantation was generally well tolerated and safe. The one SAE of fever leading to hospitalization is an event that has been recognized in adult IBD patients receiving FMT and has been observed to be self-resolving in the majority of the cases.(78) Our clinical impression is that worsening disease during the course of FMT is likely to be a sign for treatment failure, and cessation of therapy should be seriously considered in such instances.

Correlative metagenomic studies showed shifts in our pediatric UC patients towards healthy pediatric microbiome composition with FMT. However, cessation of FMT resulted in return to the original composition along with disease recurrence in those who transiently benefitted from our treatment protocol. Interestingly, the microbiome of the single patient with therapeutic success in this study separated the farthest from the donor. This observation is in agreement with the publication by Suskind et al.(141) in which they observed the highest clinical benefit from FMT in pediatric CD patients where they used donors with the most distant microbiome composition form the recipient.

In conclusion, our findings underscore the importance of mucosal disease staging prior to considering FMT as a primary treatment modality for UC. While our patients PUCAI score placed them in the "mild" range, the endoscopic staging did not agree, further emphasizing importance of relying on mucosal disease staging and not just subjective measurements like PUCAI. Patients with medically induced mucosal healing, or mild endoscopic disease may benefit the most from FMT. Additionally, pretreatment microbiome analysis could identify the most ideal donor candidates from a preferentially existing donor pool, based on microbiome composition distance from the recipient. Our observations further the notion that donor stool with the most distant microbiome composition form the recipient may provide the most optimal outcome during IBD directed FMT therapy.

6 KEYNOTES

- 1. There is a direct link between nutrition, microbiome and host response.
- 2. Postnatal exposure to different nutrients (such as cellulose or fat) has transient or persistent effect on intestinal homeostasis and predispose to the development for intestinal inflammation.

Even temporary microbial and intestinal changes following cellulose and high ω -6 supplementation were linked to transient protection against DSS induced colitis in mice.

3. Complex bacteriotherapy, such as FMT provides treatment and/or the resolution of symptoms for patients suffering in CDIF and IBD via microbiome alteration. We established an FMT protocol to provide treatment for pediatric patients with CDIF and UC. The complex microbial changes were associated with the resolution of GI symptoms in our patient cohort.

7 SUMMARY

To better understand the fascinating association of nutrition, intestinal microbiota and host response, I examined the complexity of microbial responses altered by nutrition in mouse models. This work includes the first in depth analysis of effects of dietary cellulose supplementation on the composition of the mammalian colonic mucosal microbiome. The results indicate a transient effect of this nutritional intervention even following a prolonged high cellulose exposure. The developmental origins-based nutritional approach (testing the prolonged effects of a temporary nutritional exposure during the pediatric period) demonstrated that the colonic trophic effects of cellulose are also transient. These findings underscore the significant constitutional and morphological adaptive capacity of the colonic microbiome and the large intestine, respectively. Temporary microbial and intestinal changes were associated with transient protection against experimental colitis in mice. Such massive adaptive capabilities demonstrate the dynamic responsiveness of the mammalian gut towards luminal physical/compositional changes. Furthermore, transient high ω -6 diet during pediatric development in mice induced prolonged protection against murine colitis, which associated with persistent colonic mucosal microbiome and lymphoid organ composition changes.

This novel nutrition-microbiota-host paradigm fits with the well-known clinical observation that the modulation of microbiome by complex fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) treats antibiotic-resistant *Clostridium difficile* infection (CDIF) and associated with the improvement of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) symptoms. Our bench-side research developed into a bedside clinical trial, by providing FMT for pediatric patients with recurrent CDIF and ulcerative colitis (UC). Overall, FMT was generally well tolerated and safe. The complex microbial changes were associated with the resolution of GI symptoms in our patient cohort.

These findings may bare important implications for the nutritional developmental origins of IBD and promote the future development of novel preventive and therapeutic solutions based on dietary guidance and intestinal microbiome modulation.

80

8 ÖSSZEFOGLALÁS

A gyermekkorban végbemenő külső behatások hosszantartó változásokat hoznak létre a szervezetben, melyek később betegségek kialakulásához vagy éppen ellenkezőleg, betegségekkel szemben védelmet jelenthetnek. Ez a kritikus időszak gyermekkorban különösen jelentős figyelmet érdemel. A különböző táplálkozási hatások megváltoztatva a mikrobiomot a gyulladásos betegségek kialakulását/lefolyását befolyásolhatják. A táplálkozás-microbiom-host interakció szélesebb körű megértéséhez egér modellben vizsgáltuk különböző táplálkozási tényezők (cellulóz és ω -6 zsírsav) és azok hatását a mikrobiomra, illetve ezen valtozások hatását a később kialakuló intesztinális gyulladásra.

Tézisemben a gyermekgyógyászatban előforduló gasztrointesztinális megbetegedésekkel foglalkozom. Ebben a fejlődési időszakban a táplálkozási hatások fontos szerepet játszanak a microbiom megváltozásában és ez később gyulladásos bélbetegséghez vezethet, illetve a microbiom direkt megváltoztatásával a betegség megelőzhetővé válhat.

Állatkísérleteink eredményeinek függvényében lehetőségünk nyílt, hogy mikrobiom vizsgálatainkat kiterjesszük egy újszerű klinikai terápia alkalmazására. Klinikai vizsgálataink során komplex mikrobióta széklettranszplantációt (FMT) biztosítottunk *Clostridium difficile* fertőzésben (CDIF) és colitis ulcerosában (UC) szenvedő gyerekeknek. A dolgozatomban az FMT komplex hatását vizsgálom a mikrobiomra és a gasztointesztinális megbetegedésekre.

Az eredményeink és további vizsgálatok lehetővé teszik a táplálkozási tényezők komplex hatásának szélesebbkörű megértését, az FMT hatását a szervezetre és lehetőséget nyújthatnak további mikrobiológiai terápiák kialakításában korai gyermekkorban. A táplálkozási szokások megváltoztatása, illetve a mikrobiom direkt változtatása (FMT) a gyulladásos bélbetegségek újszerű megelőzését és terápiáját teheti lehetővé.

81

9 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Barker DJ, and Osmond C. (1986) Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales. Lancet, 1: 1077-1081.
- 2. HMPConsortium. (2012) Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. Nature, 486: 207-214.
- 3. Ricour C, Duhamel JF, and Nihoul-Fekete C. (1977) [Use of parenteral and elementary enteral nutrition in the treatment of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in children]. Arch Fr Pediatr, 34: 505-513.
- 4. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Hamady M, Fraser-Liggett CM, Knight R, and Gordon JI. (2007) The human microbiome project. Nature, 449: 804-810.
- 5. HumanMicrobiomeProjectConsortium. (2012) Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. Nature, 486: 207-214.
- 6. Agito MD, Atreja A, and Rizk MK. (2013) Fecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent C difficile infection: ready for prime time? Cleve Clin J Med, 80: 101-108.
- 7. Gronlund MM, Lehtonen OP, Eerola E, and Kero P. (1999) Fecal microflora in healthy infants born by different methods of delivery: permanent changes in intestinal flora after cesarean delivery. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 28: 19-25.
- 8. Aagaard K, Ma J, Antony KM, Ganu R, Petrosino J, and Versalovic J. (2014) The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. Sci Transl Med, 6: 237ra265.
- 9. Moles L, Gomez M, Heilig H, Bustos G, Fuentes S, de Vos W, Fernandez L, Rodriguez JM, and Jimenez E. (2013) Bacterial diversity in meconium of preterm neonates and evolution of their fecal microbiota during the first month of life. PLoS One, 8: e66986.
- 10. Gosalbes MJ, Llop S, Valles Y, Moya A, Ballester F, and Francino MP. (2013) Meconium microbiota types dominated by lactic acid or enteric bacteria are differentially associated with maternal eczema and respiratory problems in infants. Clin Exp Allergy, 43: 198-211.
- 11. Marques TM, Wall R, Ross RP, Fitzgerald GF, Ryan CA, and Stanton C. (2010) Programming infant gut microbiota: influence of dietary and environmental factors. Curr Opin Biotechnol, 21: 149-156.
- Gomez-Llorente C, Plaza-Diaz J, Aguilera M, Munoz-Quezada S, Bermudez-Brito M, Peso-Echarri P, Martinez-Silla R, Vasallo-Morillas MI, Campana-Martin L, Vives-Pinera I, Ballesta-Martinez MJ, and Gil A. (2013) Three Main Factors Define Changes In Fecal Microbiota Associated With Feeding Modality In Infants. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 57: 461:466.
- 13. Boehm G, and Moro G. (2008) Structural and functional aspects of prebiotics used in infant nutrition. J Nutr, 138: 1818S-1828S.
- Hollister EB, Riehle K, Luna RA, Weidler EM, Rubio-Gonzales M, Mistretta TA, Raza S, Doddapaneni HV, Metcalf GA, Muzny DM, Gibbs RA, Petrosino JF, Shulman RJ, and Versalovic J. (2015) Structure and function of the healthy preadolescent pediatric gut microbiome. Microbiome, 3: 36.

- 15. Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, Fernandes GR, Tap J, Bruls T, Batto JM, Bertalan M, Borruel N, Casellas F, Fernandez L, Gautier L, Hansen T, Hattori M, Hayashi T, Kleerebezem M, Kurokawa K, Leclerc M, Levenez F, Manichanh C, Nielsen HB, Nielsen T, Pons N, Poulain J, Qin J, Sicheritz-Ponten T, Tims S, Torrents D, Ugarte E, Zoetendal EG, Wang J, Guarner F, Pedersen O, de Vos WM, Brunak S, Dore J, Antolin M, Artiguenave F, Blottiere HM, Almeida M, Brechot C, Cara C, Chervaux C, Cultrone A, Delorme C, Denariaz G, Dervyn R, Foerstner KU, Friss C, van de Guchte M, Guedon E, Haimet F, Huber W, van Hylckama-Vlieg J, Jamet A, Juste C, Kaci G, Knol J, Lakhdari O, Layec S, Le Roux K, Maguin E, Merieux A, Melo Minardi R, M'Rini C, Muller J, Oozeer R, Parkhill J, Renault P, Rescigno M, Sanchez N, Sunagawa S, Torrejon A, Turner K, Vandemeulebrouck G, Varela E, Winogradsky Y, Zeller G, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, and Bork P. (2011) Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. Nature, 473: 174-180.
- Lewis CM, Jr., Obregon-Tito A, Tito RY, Foster MW, and Spicer PG. (2012) The Human Microbiome Project: lessons from human genomics. Trends Microbiol, 20: 1-4.
- 17. Smith MI, Yatsunenko T, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Mkakosya R, Cheng J, Kau AL, Rich SS, Concannon P, Mychaleckyj JC, Liu J, Houpt E, Li JV, Holmes E, Nicholson J, Knights D, Ursell LK, Knight R, and Gordon JI. (2013) Gut microbiomes of Malawian twin pairs discordant for kwashiorkor. Science, 339: 548-554.
- Turnbaugh PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, Cantarel BL, Duncan A, Ley RE, Sogin ML, Jones WJ, Roe BA, Affourtit JP, Egholm M, Henrissat B, Heath AC, Knight R, and Gordon JI. (2009) A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. Nature, 457: 480-484.
- 19. Trehan I, Goldbach HS, LaGrone LN, Meuli GJ, Wang RJ, Maleta KM, and Manary MJ. (2013) Antibiotics as part of the management of severe acute malnutrition. N Engl J Med, 368: 425-435.
- 20. Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen YY, Keilbaugh SA, Bewtra M, Knights D, Walters WA, Knight R, Sinha R, Gilroy E, Gupta K, Baldassano R, Nessel L, Li H, Bushman FD, and Lewis JD. (2011) Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science, 334: 105-108.
- 21. Costello EK, Lauber CL, Hamady M, Fierer N, Gordon JI, and Knight R. (2009) Bacterial community variation in human body habitats across space and time. Science, 326: 1694-1697.
- 22. Ottman N, Smidt H, de Vos WM, and Belzer C. (2012) The function of our microbiota: who is out there and what do they do? Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2: 104.
- 23. Hooper LV, Littman DR, and Macpherson AJ. (2012) Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. Science, 336: 1268-1273.
- 24. Kamada N, Seo SU, Chen GY, and Nunez G. (2013) Role of the gut microbiota in immunity and inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol, 13: 321-335.

- 25. Purchiaroni F, Tortora A, Gabrielli M, Bertucci F, Gigante G, Ianiro G, Ojetti V, Scarpellini E, and Gasbarrini A. (2013) The role of intestinal microbiota and the immune system. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci, 17: 323-333.
- 26. Gordon JI, Dewey KG, Mills DA, and Medzhitov RM. (2012) The human gut microbiota and undernutrition. Sci Transl Med, 4: 137ps112.
- 27. Maslowski KM, Vieira AT, Ng A, Kranich J, Sierro F, Yu D, Schilter HC, Rolph MS, Mackay F, Artis D, Xavier RJ, Teixeira MM, and Mackay CR. (2009) Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. Nature, 461: 1282-1286.
- 28. Pendyala S, Walker JM, and Holt PR. (2012) A high-fat diet is associated with endotoxemia that originates from the gut. Gastroenterology, 142: 1100-1101 e1102.
- 29. Varni JW, Shulman RJ, Self MM, Nurko S, Saps M, Saeed SA, Bendo CB, Patel AS, Dark CV, Zacur GM, Pohl JF, and Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Gastrointestinal Symptoms Module Testing Study C. (2015) Symptom Profiles in Patients With Irritable Bowel Syndrome or Functional Abdominal Pain Compared With Healthy Controls. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 61: 323-329.
- 30. Kellermayer R. (2010) Genetic drift. "Omics" as the filtering gateway between environment and phenotype: The inflammatory bowel diseases example. Am J Med Genet A, 152A: 3022-3025.
- 31. Kellermayer R, Balasa A, Zhang W, Lee S, Mirza S, Chakravarty A, Szigeti R, Laritsky E, Tatevian N, Smith CW, Shen L, and Waterland RA. (2010) Epigenetic maturation in colonic mucosa continues beyond infancy in mice. Hum Mol Genet, 19: 2168-2176.
- 32. Packey CD, and Sartor RB. (2008) Interplay of commensal and pathogenic bacteria, genetic mutations, and immunoregulatory defects in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. J Intern Med, 263: 597-606.
- 33. Schaible TD, Harris RA, Dowd SE, Smith CW, and Kellermayer R. (2011) Maternal methyl-donor supplementation induces prolonged murine offspring colitis susceptibility in association with mucosal epigenetic and microbiomic changes. Hum Mol Genet, 20: 1687-1696.
- 34. Nagy-Szakal D, Ross MC, Dowd SE, Mir SA, Schaible TD, Petrosino JF, and Kellermayer R. (2012) Maternal micronutrients can modify colonic mucosal microbiota maturation in murine offspring. Gut Microbes, 3.
- 35. Hou JK, Abraham B, and El-Serag H. (2011) Dietary intake and risk of developing inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review of the literature. Am J Gastroenterol, 106: 563-573.
- 36. Burkitt DP. (1973) Epidemiology of large bowel disease: the role of fibre. Proc Nutr Soc, 32: 145-149.
- 37. De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, Collini S, Pieraccini G, and Lionetti P. (2010) Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 107: 14691-14696.
- 38. Cummings JH. (1984) Cellulose and the human gut. Gut, 25: 805-810.

- 39. Goodlad RA, Lenton W, Ghatei MA, Adrian TE, Bloom SR, and Wright NA. (1987) Proliferative effects of 'fibre' on the intestinal epithelium: relationship to gastrin, enteroglucagon and PYY. Gut, 28 Suppl: 221-226.
- 40. McCullogh JS, Ratcliffe B, Mandir N, Carr KE, and Goodlad RA. (1998) Dietary fibre and intestinal microflora: effects on intestinal morphometry and crypt branching. Gut, 42: 799-806.
- 41. Pell JD, Johnson IT, and Goodlad RA. (1995) The effects of and interactions between fermentable dietary fiber and lipid in germfree and conventional mice. Gastroenterology, 108: 1745-1752.
- 42. Cummings JH. (1983) Fermentation in the human large intestine: evidence and implications for health. Lancet, 1: 1206-1209.
- 43. Wolin MJ. (1981) Fermentation in the rumen and human large intestine. Science, 213: 1463-1468.
- 44. Swidsinski A, Ladhoff A, Pernthaler A, Swidsinski S, Loening-Baucke V, Ortner M, Weber J, Hoffmann U, Schreiber S, Dietel M, and Lochs H. (2002) Mucosal flora in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology, 122: 44-54.
- 45. Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, Gill SR, Nelson KE, and Relman DA. (2005) Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. Science, 308: 1635-1638.
- 46. Tjonneland A, Overvad K, Bergmann MM, Nagel G, Linseisen J, Hallmans G, Palmqvist R, Sjodin H, Hagglund G, Berglund G, Lindgren S, Grip O, Palli D, Day NE, Khaw KT, Bingham S, Riboli E, Kennedy H, and Hart A. (2009) Linoleic acid, a dietary n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid, and the aetiology of ulcerative colitis: a nested case-control study within a European prospective cohort study. Gut, 58: 1606-1611.
- 47. Petronis A. (2010) Epigenetics as a unifying principle in the aetiology of complex traits and diseases. Nature, 465: 721-727.
- 48. Kellermayer R. (2012) Epigenetics and the developmental origins of inflammatory bowel diseases. Can J Gastroenterol, 26: 909-915.
- 49. Frank DN, Robertson CE, Hamm CM, Kpadeh Z, Zhang T, Chen H, Zhu W, Sartor RB, Boedeker EC, Harpaz N, Pace NR, and Li E. (2011) Disease phenotype and genotype are associated with shifts in intestinal-associated microbiota in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 17: 179-184.
- 50. Sokol H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, Lakhdari O, Bermudez-Humaran LG, Gratadoux JJ, Blugeon S, Bridonneau C, Furet JP, Corthier G, Grangette C, Vasquez N, Pochart P, Trugnan G, Thomas G, Blottiere HM, Dore J, Marteau P, Seksik P, and Langella P. (2008) Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105: 16731-16736.
- 51. Mai V, Young CM, Ukhanova M, Wang X, Sun Y, Casella G, Theriaque D, Li N, Sharma R, Hudak M, and Neu J. (2011) Fecal microbiota in premature infants prior to necrotizing enterocolitis. PLoS One, 6: e20647.
- 52. Wang Q, Dong J, and Zhu Y. (2012) Probiotic supplement reduces risk of necrotizing enterocolitis and mortality in preterm very low-birth-weight infants: an

updated meta-analysis of 20 randomized, controlled trials. J Pediatr Surg, 47: 241-248.

- 53. Saulnier DM, Riehle K, Mistretta TA, Diaz MA, Mandal D, Raza S, Weidler EM, Qin X, Coarfa C, Milosavljevic A, Petrosino JF, Highlander S, Gibbs R, Lynch SV, Shulman RJ, and Versalovic J. (2011) Gastrointestinal microbiome signatures of pediatric patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology, 141: 1782-1791.
- Nagy-Szakal D, Mir SA, Ross M, Tatevian N, Petrosino J, and Kellermayer R. (2013) Monotonous Diets Protect against Acute Colitis in Mice: Epidemiologic and Therapeutic Implications. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology & Nutrition, 56: 544:550.
- 55. Morgan XC, Tickle TL, Sokol H, Gevers D, Devaney KL, Ward DV, Reyes JA, Shah SA, LeLeiko N, Snapper SB, Bousvaros A, Korzenik J, Sands BE, Xavier RJ, and Huttenhower C. (2012) Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. Genome Biol, 13: R79.
- 56. Lepage P, Hasler R, Spehlmann ME, Rehman A, Zvirbliene A, Begun A, Ott S, Kupcinskas L, Dore J, Raedler A, and Schreiber S. (2011) Twin study indicates loss of interaction between microbiota and mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology, 141: 227-236.
- 57. Kellermayer R, Mir S, and Nagy-Szakal D. (2012) Microbiota Separation and Creactive protein Elevation in Treatment Naïve Pediatric Granulomatous Crohn Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 55: 243-250.
- 58. Saad R, Rizkallah MR, and Aziz RK. (2012) Gut Pharmacomicrobiomics: the tip of an iceberg of complex interactions between drugs and gut-associated microbes. Gut Pathog, 4: 16.
- 59. Zhang F, Luo W, Shi Y, Fan Z, and Ji G. (2012) Should we standardize the 1,700year-old fecal microbiota transplantation? Am J Gastroenterol, 107: 1755-1756.
- 60. Eiseman B, Silen W, Bascom GS, and Kauvar AJ. (1958) Fecal enema as an adjunct in the treatment of pseudomembranous enterocolitis. Surgery, 44: 854-859.
- 61. Evans CT, and Safdar N. (2015) Current Trends in the Epidemiology and Outcomes of Clostridium difficile Infection. Clin Infect Dis, 60: S66-S71.
- 62. Lessa FC, Mu Y, Bamberg WM, Beldavs ZG, Dumyati GK, Dunn JR, Farley MM, Holzbauer SM, Meek JI, Phipps EC, Wilson LE, Winston LG, Cohen JA, Limbago BM, Fridkin SK, Gerding DN, and McDonald LC. (2015) Burden of Clostridium difficile infection in the United States. N Engl J Med, 372: 825-834.
- 63. Gerding DN, and Lessa FC. (2015) The epidemiology of Clostridium difficile infection inside and outside health care institutions. Infect Dis Clin North Am, 29: 37-50.
- 64. Zimlichman E, Henderson D, Tamir O, Franz C, Song P, Yamin CK, Keohane C, Denham CR, and Bates DW. (2013) Health care-associated infections: a metaanalysis of costs and financial impact on the US health care system. JAMA Intern Med, 173: 2039-2046.
- 65. Crews JD, Koo HL, Jiang ZD, Starke JR, and DuPont HL. (2014) A hospital-based study of the clinical characteristics of Clostridium difficile infection in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J, 33: 924-928.

- 66. Bakken JS, Polgreen PM, Beekmann SE, Riedo FX, and Streit JA. (2013) Treatment approaches including fecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent Clostridium difficile infection (RCDI) among infectious disease physicians. Anaerobe, 24: 20-24.
- 67. van Nood E, Vrieze A, Nieuwdorp M, Fuentes S, Zoetendal EG, de Vos WM, Visser CE, Kuijper EJ, Bartelsman JF, Tijssen JG, Speelman P, Dijkgraaf MG, and Keller JJ. (2013) Duodenal infusion of donor feces for recurrent Clostridium difficile. N Engl J Med, 368: 407-415.
- 68. Sha S, Liang J, Chen M, Xu B, Liang C, Wei N, and Wu K. (2014) Systematic review: faecal microbiota transplantation therapy for digestive and nondigestive disorders in adults and children. Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 39: 1003-1032.
- 69. Kronman MP, Nielson HJ, Adler AL, Giefer MJ, Wahbeh G, Singh N, Zerr DM, and Suskind DL. (2015) Fecal microbiota transplantation via nasogastric tube for recurrent clostridium difficile infection in pediatric patients. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 60: 23-26.
- 70. Russell GH, Kaplan JL, Youngster I, Baril-Dore M, Schindelar L, Hohmann E, and Winter HS. (2014) Fecal transplant for recurrent Clostridium difficile infection in children with and without inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 58: 588-592.
- 71. Walia R, Garg S, Song Y, Girotra M, Cuffari C, Fricke WF, and Dutta SK. (2014) Efficacy of fecal microbiota transplantation in 2 children with recurrent Clostridium difficile infection and its impact on their growth and gut microbiome. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 59: 565-570.
- 72. Nguyen GC, Chong CA, and Chong RY. (2014) National estimates of the burden of inflammatory bowel disease among racial and ethnic groups in the United States. J Crohns Colitis, 8: 288-295.
- 73. Van Limbergen J, Russell RK, Drummond HE, Aldhous MC, Round NK, Nimmo ER, Smith L, Gillett PM, McGrogan P, Weaver LT, Bisset WM, Mahdi G, Arnott ID, Satsangi J, and Wilson DC. (2008) Definition of phenotypic characteristics of childhood-onset inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology, 135: 1114-1122.
- 74. Borody TJ, Warren EF, Leis S, Surace R, and Ashman O. (2003) Treatment of ulcerative colitis using fecal bacteriotherapy. J Clin Gastroenterol, 37: 42-47.
- 75. Kellermayer R. (2013) Prospects and challenges for intestinal microbiome therapy in pediatric gastrointestinal disorders. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol, 4: 91-93.
- 76. Kahn SA, Vachon A, Rodriquez D, Goeppinger SR, Surma B, Marks J, and Rubin DT. (2013) Patient perceptions of fecal microbiota transplantation for ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 19: 1506-1513.
- 77. Kahn SA, Gorawara-Bhat R, and Rubin DT. (2012) Fecal bacteriotherapy for ulcerative colitis: patients are ready, are we? Inflamm Bowel Dis, 18: 676-684.
- 78. Colman RJ, and Rubin DT. (2014) Fecal microbiota transplantation as therapy for inflammatory bowel disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Crohns Colitis, 8: 1569-1581.
- 79. Kunde S, Pham A, Bonczyk S, Crumb T, Duba M, Conrad H, Jr., Cloney D, and Kugathasan S. (2013) Safety, tolerability, and clinical response after fecal

transplantation in children and young adults with ulcerative colitis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 56: 597-601.

- 80. Suskind DL, Singh N, Nielson H, and Wahbeh G. (2015) Fecal microbial transplant via nasogastric tube for active pediatric ulcerative colitis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 60: 27-29.
- 81. Moayyedi P, Surette M, Wolfe M, Taraschi R, Kim P, Libertucci J, Armstrong D, Marshall JK, Reinisch W, and Lee CH. (2014) A randomized, placebo controlled trial of fecal microbiota therapy in active ulcerative colitis. DDW, Abstract 929c.
- 82. Moayyedi P, Surette MG, Kim PT, Libertucci J, Wolfe M, Onischi C, Armstrong D, Marshall JK, Kassam Z, Reinisch W, and Lee CH. (2015) Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Induces Remission in Patients with Active Ulcerative Colitis in a Randomized, Controlled Trial. Gastroenterology 149: 102:109.
- 83. Rossen NG, Fuentes S, van der Spek MJ, Tijssen J, Hartman JH, Duflou A, Lowenberg M, van den Brink GR, Mathus-Vliegen EM, de Vos WM, Zoetendal EG, D'Haens GR, and Ponsioen CY. (2015) Findings from a Randomized Controlled Trial of Fecal Transplantation for Patients with Ulcerative Colitis. Gastroenterology 149: 110-118.
- 84. Mir SA, and Kellermayer R. (2013) Clostridium difficile infection in newly diagnosed pediatric inflammatory bowel disease in the mid-southern United States. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 57: 487-488.
- 85. Ringel Y, and Ringel-Kulka T. (2015) The Intestinal Microbiota and Irritable Bowel Syndrome. J Clin Gastroenterol, 49 Suppl 1: S56-59.
- 86. Pinn DM, Aroniadis OC, and Brandt LJ. (2014) Is fecal microbiota transplantation the answer for irritable bowel syndrome? A single-center experience. Am J Gastroenterol, 109: 1831-1832.
- 87. Vrieze A, Van Nood E, Holleman F, Salojarvi J, Kootte RS, Bartelsman JF, Dallinga-Thie GM, Ackermans MT, Serlie MJ, Oozeer R, Derrien M, Druesne A, Van Hylckama Vlieg JE, Bloks VW, Groen AK, Heilig HG, Zoetendal EG, Stroes ES, de Vos WM, Hoekstra JB, and Nieuwdorp M. (2012) Transfer of intestinal microbiota from lean donors increases insulin sensitivity in individuals with metabolic syndrome. Gastroenterology, 143: 913-916 e917.
- 88. Kitajima S, Takuma S, and Morimoto M. (2000) Histological analysis of murine colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium of different molecular weights. Exp Anim, 49: 9-15.
- 89. Tao R, de Zoeten EF, Ozkaynak E, Chen C, Wang L, Porrett PM, Li B, Turka LA, Olson EN, Greene MI, Wells AD, and Hancock WW. (2007) Deacetylase inhibition promotes the generation and function of regulatory T cells. Nat Med, 13: 1299-1307.
- 90. Perret V, Lev R, and Pigman W. (1977) Simple method for the preparation of single cell suspensions from normal and tumorous rat colonic mucosa. Gut, 18: 382-385.
- 91. Vijay-Kumar M, Aitken JD, Carvalho FA, Cullender TC, Mwangi S, Srinivasan S, Sitaraman SV, Knight R, Ley RE, and Gewirtz AT. (2010) Metabolic syndrome and altered gut microbiota in mice lacking Toll-like receptor 5. Science, 328: 228-231.
- 92. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, Fierer N, Pena AG, Goodrich JK, Gordon JI, Huttley GA, Kelley ST, Knights D,

Koenig JE, Ley RE, Lozupone CA, McDonald D, Muegge BD, Pirrung M, Reeder J, Sevinsky JR, Turnbaugh PJ, Walters WA, Widmann J, Yatsunenko T, Zaneveld J, and Knight R. (2010) QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods, 7: 335-336.

- 93. Riehle K, Coarfa C, Jackson R, Ma J, Tandon A, Paithankar S, Raghuraman S, Mistretta T-A, Saulnier D, Raza S, Diaz M, Shulman R, Aagaard K, Versalovic J, and Milosavljevic A. (2012) The Genboree Microbiome Toolset and the analysis of 16s rRNA microbial sequences. BCM Bioinformatics, 13: S11.
- 94. Li W, and Godzik A. (2006) Cd-hit: a fast program for clustering and comparing large sets of protein or nucleotide sequences. Bioinformatics, 22: 1658-1659.
- 95. Haas BJ, Gevers D, Earl AM, Feldgarden M, Ward DV, Giannoukos G, Ciulla D, Tabbaa D, Highlander SK, Sodergren E, Methe B, DeSantis TZ, Petrosino JF, Knight R, and Birren BW. (2011) Chimeric 16S rRNA sequence formation and detection in Sanger and 454-pyrosequenced PCR amplicons. Genome Res, 21: 494-504.
- 96. Wang Q, Garrity GM, Tiedje JM, and Cole JR. (2007) Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Appl Environ Microbiol, 73: 5261-5267.
- 97. Yamada T, Park CS, Mamonkin M, and Lacorazza HD. (2009) Transcription factor ELF4 controls the proliferation and homing of CD8+ T cells via the Kruppel-like factors KLF4 and KLF2. Nat Immunol, 10: 618-626.
- 98. Hamilton MJ, Weingarden AR, Sadowsky MJ, and Khoruts A. (2012) Standardized Frozen Preparation for Transplantation of Fecal Microbiota for Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection. Am J Gastroenterol, 107: 761-767.
- 99. Kellermayer R, Nagy-Szakal D, Harris RA, Luna RA, Pitashny M, Schady D, Mir SA, Lopez ME, Gilger MA, Belmont J, Hollister EB, and Versalovic J. (2015) Serial fecal microbiota transplantation alters mucosal gene expression in pediatric ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol, 110: 604-606.
- 100. Brandt LJ, Aroniadis OC, Mellow M, Kanatzar A, Kelly C, Park T, Stollman N, Rohlke F, and Surawicz C. (2012) Long-term follow-up of colonoscopic fecal microbiota transplant for recurrent Clostridium difficile infection. Am J Gastroenterol, 107: 1079-1087.
- 101. Kellermayer R, Dowd SE, Harris RA, Balasa A, Schaible TD, Wolcott RD, Tatevian N, Szigeti R, Li Z, Versalovic J, and Smith CW. (2011) Colonic mucosal DNA methylation, immune response, and microbiome patterns in Toll-like receptor 2-knockout mice. FASEB J, 25: 1449-1460.
- 102. Goodlad RA, and Wright NA. (1983) Effects of addition of kaolin or cellulose to an elemental diet on intestinal cell proliferation in the mouse. Br J Nutr, 50: 91-98.
- 103. Komiyama Y, Andoh A, Fujiwara D, Ohmae H, Araki Y, Fujiyama Y, Mitsuyama K, and Kanauchi O. (2011) New prebiotics from rice bran ameliorate inflammation in murine colitis models through the modulation of intestinal homeostasis and the mucosal immune system. Scand J Gastroenterol, 46: 40-52.
- 104. Rodriguez-Cabezas ME, Galvez J, Camuesco D, Lorente MD, Concha A, Martinez-Augustin O, Redondo L, and Zarzuelo A. (2003) Intestinal anti-inflammatory

activity of dietary fiber (Plantago ovata seeds) in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. Clin Nutr, 22: 463-471.

- 105. Naito Y, Takagi T, Katada K, Uchiyama K, Kuroda M, Kokura S, Ichikawa H, Watabe J, Yoshida N, Okanoue T, and Yoshikawa T. (2006) Partially hydrolyzed guar gum down-regulates colonic inflammatory response in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. J Nutr Biochem, 17: 402-409.
- 106. Fox JG. (2007) The mouse in biomedical research. Elsevier, Cambridge, USA.
- 107. Maathuis A, Hoffman A, Evans A, Sanders L, and Venema K. (2009) The effect of the undigested fraction of maize products on the activity and composition of the microbiota determined in a dynamic in vitro model of the human proximal large intestine. J Am Coll Nutr, 28: 657-666.
- 108. Walker AW, Ince J, Duncan SH, Webster LM, Holtrop G, Ze X, Brown D, Stares MD, Scott P, Bergerat A, Louis P, McIntosh F, Johnstone AM, Lobley GE, Parkhill J, and Flint HJ. (2011) Dominant and diet-responsive groups of bacteria within the human colonic microbiota. ISME J, 5: 220-230.
- 109. Schaefer JS, Montufar-Solis D, Vigneswaran N, and Klein JR. (2010) ICOS promotes IL-17 synthesis in colonic intraepithelial lymphocytes in IL-10-/- mice. J Leukoc Biol, 87: 301-308.
- 110. de Zoeten EF, Wang L, Butler K, Beier UH, Akimova T, Sai H, Bradner JE, Mazitschek R, Kozikowski AP, Matthias P, and Hancock WW. (2011) Histone deacetylase 6 and heat shock protein 90 control the functions of Foxp3(+) T-regulatory cells. Mol Cell Biol, 31: 2066-2078.
- 111. Quera R, Espinoza R, Estay C, and Rivera D. (2014) Bacteremia as an adverse event of fecal microbiota transplantation in a patient with Crohn's disease and recurrent Clostridium difficile infection. J Crohns Colitis, 8: 252-253.
- 112. Schwartz L, Abolhassani M, Pooya M, Steyaert JM, Wertz X, Israel M, Guais A, and Chaumet-Riffaud P. (2008) Hyperosmotic stress contributes to mouse colonic inflammation through the methylation of protein phosphatase 2A. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 295: G934-941.
- 113. Frank DN, St Amand AL, Feldman RA, Boedeker EC, Harpaz N, and Pace NR. (2007) Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of microbial community imbalances in human inflammatory bowel diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104: 13780-13785.
- 114. Tannock GW, Lawley B, Munro K, Lay C, Taylor C, Daynes C, Baladjay L, McLeod R, and Thompson-Fawcett M. (2012) Comprehensive analysis of the bacterial content of stool from patients with chronic pouchitis, normal pouches, or familial adenomatous polyposis pouches. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 18: 925-934.
- 115. Scarpa M, Grillo A, Faggian D, Ruffolo C, Bonello E, D'Inca R, Castagliuolo I, and Angriman I. (2011) Relationship between mucosa-associated microbiota and inflammatory parameters in the ileal pouch after restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis. Surgery, 150: 56-67.
- 116. Sartor RB. (2011) Key questions to guide a better understanding of host-commensal microbiota interactions in intestinal inflammation. Mucosal Immunol, 4: 127-132.
- 117. Hashimoto T, Perlot T, Rehman A, Trichereau J, Ishiguro H, Paolino M, Sigl V, Hanada T, Hanada R, Lipinski S, Wild B, Camargo SM, Singer D, Richter A, Kuba

K, Fukamizu A, Schreiber S, Clevers H, Verrey F, Rosenstiel P, and Penninger JM. (2012) ACE2 links amino acid malnutrition to microbial ecology and intestinal inflammation. Nature, 487: 477-481.

- 118. Schmitz G, and Ecker J. (2008) The opposing effects of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids. Prog Lipid Res, 47: 147-155.
- 119. Marion-Letellier R, Savoye G, Beck PL, Panaccione R, and Ghosh S. (2013) Polyunsaturated fatty acids in inflammatory bowel diseases: a reappraisal of effects and therapeutic approaches. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 19: 650-661.
- 120. Gruber L, Kisling S, Lichti P, Martin FP, May S, Klingenspor M, Lichtenegger M, Rychlik M, and Haller D. (2013) High fat diet accelerates pathogenesis of murine Crohn's disease-like ileitis independently of obesity. PLoS One, 8: e71661.
- 121. Devkota S, Wang Y, Musch MW, Leone V, Fehlner-Peach H, Nadimpalli A, Antonopoulos DA, Jabri B, and Chang EB. (2012) Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in Il10-/- mice. Nature, 487: 104-108.
- 122. Chan SS, Luben R, Olsen A, Tjonneland A, Kaaks R, Teucher B, Lindgren S, Grip O, Key T, Crowe FL, Bergmann MM, Boeing H, Hallmans G, Karling P, Overvad K, Palli D, Masala G, Kennedy H, vanSchaik F, Bueno-de-Mesquita B, Oldenburg B, Khaw KT, Riboli E, and Hart AR. (2013) Body mass index and the risk for Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: data from a European Prospective Cohort Study (The IBD in EPIC Study). Am J Gastroenterol, 108: 575-582.
- 123. Walters WA, Xu Z, and Knight R. (2014) Meta-analyses of human gut microbes associated with obesity and IBD. FEBS Lett 588: 4223-4233.
- 124. Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, Lee JC, Schumm LP, Sharma Y, Anderson CA, Essers J, Mitrovic M, Ning K, Cleynen I, Theatre E, Spain SL, Raychaudhuri S, Goyette P, Wei Z, Abraham C, Achkar JP, Ahmad T, Amininejad L, Ananthakrishnan AN, Andersen V, Andrews JM, Baidoo L, Balschun T, Bampton PA, Bitton A, Boucher G, Brand S, Buning C, Cohain A, Cichon S, D'Amato M, De Jong D, Devaney KL, Dubinsky M, Edwards C, Ellinghaus D, Ferguson LR, Franchimont D, Fransen K, Gearry R, Georges M, Gieger C, Glas J, Haritunians T, Hart A, Hawkey C, Hedl M, Hu X, Karlsen TH, Kupcinskas L, Kugathasan S, Latiano A, Laukens D, Lawrance IC, Lees CW, Louis E, Mahy G, Mansfield J, Morgan AR, Mowat C, Newman W, Palmieri O, Ponsioen CY, Potocnik U, Prescott NJ, Regueiro M, Rotter JI, Russell RK, Sanderson JD, Sans M, Satsangi J, Schreiber S, Simms LA, Sventoraityte J, Targan SR, Taylor KD, Tremelling M, Verspaget HW, De Vos M, Wijmenga C, Wilson DC, Winkelmann J, Xavier RJ, Zeissig S, Zhang B, Zhang CK, Zhao H, Silverberg MS, Annese V, Hakonarson H, Brant SR, Radford-Smith G, Mathew CG, Rioux JD, Schadt EE, Daly MJ, Franke A, Parkes M, Vermeire S, Barrett JC, and Cho JH. (2012) Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature, 491: 119-124.
- 125. Magyari L, Kovesdi E, Sarlos P, Javorhazy A, Sumegi K, and Melegh B. (2014) Interleukin and interleukin receptor gene polymorphisms in inflammatory bowel diseases susceptibility. World J Gastroenterol, 20: 3208-3222.

- 126. Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, Vazquez-Baeza Y, Van Treuren W, Ren B, Schwager E, Knights D, Song SJ, Yassour M, Morgan XC, Kostic AD, Luo C, Gonzalez A, McDonald D, Haberman Y, Walters T, Baker S, Rosh J, Stephens M, Heyman M, Markowitz J, Baldassano R, Griffiths A, Sylvester F, Mack D, Kim S, Crandall W, Hyams J, Huttenhower C, Knight R, and Xavier RJ. (2014) The treatment-naive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. Cell Host Microbe, 15: 382-392.
- 127. Haberman Y, Tickle TL, Dexheimer PJ, Kim MO, Tang D, Karns R, Baldassano RN, Noe JD, Rosh J, Markowitz J, Heyman MB, Griffiths AM, Crandall WV, Mack DR, Baker SS, Huttenhower C, Keljo DJ, Hyams JS, Kugathasan S, Walters TD, Aronow B, Xavier RJ, Gevers D, and Denson LA. (2014) Pediatric Crohn disease patients exhibit specific ileal transcriptome and microbiome signature. J Clin Invest, 124: 3617-3633.
- 128. Steck N, Hoffmann M, Sava IG, Kim SC, Hahne H, Tonkonogy SL, Mair K, Krueger D, Pruteanu M, Shanahan F, Vogelmann R, Schemann M, Kuster B, Sartor RB, and Haller D. (2011) Enterococcus faecalis metalloprotease compromises epithelial barrier and contributes to intestinal inflammation. Gastroenterology, 141: 959-971.
- 129. Szigeti R, Pangas SA, Nagy-Szakal D, Dowd SE, Shulman RJ, Olive AP, Popek EJ, Finegold MJ, and Kellermayer R. (2012) SMAD4 haploinsufficiency associates with augmented colonic inflammation in select humans and mice. Ann Clin Lab Sci, 42: 401-408.
- 130. Fite A, Macfarlane S, Furrie E, Bahrami B, Cummings JH, Steinke DT, and Macfarlane GT. (2013) Longitudinal analyses of gut mucosal microbiotas in ulcerative colitis in relation to patient age and disease severity and duration. J Clin Microbiol, 51: 849-856.
- 131. Kellermayer R, Balasa A, Zhang W, Lee S, Mirza S, Chakravarty A, Szigeti R, Laritsky E, Tatevian N, Smith CW, Shen L, and Waterland RA. Epigenetic maturation in colonic mucosa continues beyond infancy in mice. Hum Mol Genet, 19: 2168-2176.
- 132. Walker LS, Gulbranson-Judge A, Flynn S, Brocker T, Raykundalia C, Goodall M, Forster R, Lipp M, and Lane P. (1999) Compromised OX40 function in CD28deficient mice is linked with failure to develop CXC chemokine receptor 5-positive CD4 cells and germinal centers. J Exp Med, 190: 1115-1122.
- 133. Brocker T, Gulbranson-Judge A, Flynn S, Riedinger M, Raykundalia C, and Lane P. (1999) CD4 T cell traffic control: in vivo evidence that ligation of OX40 on CD4 T cells by OX40-ligand expressed on dendritic cells leads to the accumulation of CD4 T cells in B follicles. Eur J Immunol, 29: 1610-1616.
- 134. Murata K, Nose M, Ndhlovu LC, Sato T, Sugamura K, and Ishii N. (2002) Constitutive OX40/OX40 ligand interaction induces autoimmune-like diseases. J Immunol, 169: 4628-4636.
- 135. Obermeier F, Schwarz H, Dunger N, Strauch UG, Grunwald N, Scholmerich J, and Falk W. (2003) OX40/OX40L interaction induces the expression of CXCR5 and contributes to chronic colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium in mice. Eur J Immunol, 33: 3265-3274.

- 136. Sarra M, Monteleone I, Stolfi C, Fantini MC, Sileri P, Sica G, Tersigni R, Macdonald TT, Pallone F, and Monteleone G. Interferon-gamma-expressing cells are a major source of interleukin-21 in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 16: 1332-1339.
- 137. Harris RA, Nagy-Szakal D, Mir SA, Frank E, Szigeti R, Kaplan JL, Bronsky J, Opekun A, Ferry GD, Winter H, and Kellermayer R. (2014) DNA methylationassociated colonic mucosal immune and defense responses in treatment-naive pediatric ulcerative colitis. Epigenetics, 9: 1131-1137.
- 138. Nishimura M, Kuboi Y, Muramoto K, Kawano T, and Imai T. (2009) Chemokines as novel therapeutic targets for inflammatory bowel disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1173: 350-356.
- 139. Boland BS, Sandborn WJ, and Chang JT. (2014) Update on Janus kinase antagonists in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Clin North Am, 43: 603-617.
- 140. Boyle DL, Soma K, Hodge J, Kavanaugh A, Mandel D, Mease P, Shurmur R, Singhal AK, Wei N, Rosengren S, Kaplan I, Krishnaswami S, Luo Z, Bradley J, and Firestein GS. (2014) The JAK inhibitor tofacitinib suppresses synovial JAK1-STAT signalling in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis, 74: 1311-1316.
- 141. Suskind DL, Brittnacher MJ, Wahbeh G, Shaffer ML, Hayden HS, Qin X, Singh N, Damman CJ, Hager KR, Nielson H, and Miller SI. (2015) Fecal microbial transplant effect on clinical outcomes and fecal microbiome in active Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 21: 556-563.
- 142. Poritz LS, Harris LR, 3rd, Kelly AA, and Koltun WA. (2011) Increase in the Tight Junction Protein Claudin-1 in Intestinal Inflammation. Dig Dis Sci, 56: 2802-2809.

10 PUBLICATIONS

10.1 Related publications of the author

Kellermayer R, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Harris RA, Luna RA, Pitashny M, Schady D, Mir SAV, Lopez, ME, Gilger MA, Belmont J, Hollister EB, Versalovic J. (2015) Serial Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Alters Mucosal Gene Expression in Pediatric Ulcerative Colitis. American Journal of Gastroenterology, 110(4): 604-6. **IF:9.2**

<u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Mir SA, Harris RA, Dowd SE, Yamada T, Lacorazza HD, Tatevian N, Smith CW, Kellermayer R. (2015) Loss of omega-6 induced pediatric obesity protects against murine colitis. FASEB Journal, 29(8): 3151-9. **IF:5.48**

<u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Hollister EB, Luna RA, Versalovic J, Smith CW, Kellermayer R. (2013) Cellulose Supplementation Early in Life Ameliorates Colitis in Adult Mice. Plos One, 8(2): e56685. **IF:3.73**

10.2 Additional unrelated publications of the author

Harris RA, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Mir SA, Frank E, Szigeti R, Kaplan JL, Bronsky J, Opekun A, Ferry GD, Winter H, Kellermayer R. (2014) DNA methylation-associated colonic mucosal immune and defense responses in treatment-naïve pediatric ulcerative colitis. Epigenetics, 9(8): 1131-7. **IF:4.58**

Mir SAV, Schady D, Olive AP, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Kellermayer R. (2014) Mucosal mast cell counts in pediatric eosinophilic gastrointestinal disease. Pediatric Allergy and Immunology, 25(1): 94-5. **IF:3.38**

Mir SA, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Smith EO, Gilger MA, Kellermayer R. (2014) Duration of Disease May Predict Response to Infliximab in Pediatric Ulcerative Colitis. J Clin Gastroenterol. 48(142): 248-52. **IF:2.21**

Mir SAV, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Dowd SE, Szigeti RG, Smith CW, Kellermayer R. (2013) Prenatal Methyl-Donor Supplementation Induces an Acute Colitis Prone Microbiome in Young Adult Mice. Plos One, 8(8): e73162. **IF:3.73**

Harris RA, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Kellermayer R. (2013) Human metastable epiallele candidates link to common disorders. Epigenetics, 8(2): 157-63. **IF:4.58**

<u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Mir SA, Ross MC, Tatevian N, Petrosino JF, Kellermayer R. (2013) Monotonous Diets Protect against Acute Colitis in Mice: Epidemiologic and Therapeutic Implications. JPGN, 56(5): 544-50. **IF:2.18**

Szigeti R, Pangas S, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Dowd SE, Shulman RJ, Olive AP, Popek EJ, Finegold MJ, Kellermayer R. (2012) SMAD4 Haploinsufficiency Associates with Augmented Colonic Inflammation in Select Humans and Mice. Annals of Clinical & Laboratory Science, 42(4): 401-8. **IF:0.88**

Banki NF, Ver A, Wagner LJ, Vannay A, Degrell P, Prokai A, Gellai R, Lenart L, <u>Szakal DN</u>, Kenesei E, Rosta K, Reusz G, Szabo AJ, Tulassay T, Baylis C, Fekete A. (2012) Aldosterone Antagonists in Monotherapy are Protective Against Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Nephropathy in Rats. PLoS One, 7(6): e39938. **IF:3.73**

<u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Ross MC, Dowd SE, Mir SA, Schaible TD, Petrosino JF, Kellermayer R. (2012) Maternal micronutrients can modify colonic mucosal microbiota maturation in murine offspring. Gut Microbes, 3(5).

Kellermayer R, Mir SA, <u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Cox SB, Dowd SE, Kaplan JL, Sun Y, Reddy S, Bronsky J, Winter HS. (2012) Microbiome Separation and C - reactive protein Elevation in Treatment Naïve Pediatric Granulomatous Crohn Disease. JPGN, 55(142): 243-50. **IF:2.18**

Harris RA*, <u>Nagy-Szakal D*</u>, Pedersen N, Opekun A, Bronsky J, Munkholm P, Jespersgaard C, Andersen PS, Melegh B, Ferry G, Jess T, Kellermayer R. (2012) Genome Wide Peripheral Blood Leukocyte DNA Methylation Microarrays Identify a Single Association with Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 18(12): 2334-41. (*These authors contributed equally of this work.) **IF:5.12**

<u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Kellermayer R. (2011) The remarkable capacity for gut microbial and host interactions. Gut Microbes, 2(142): 178-82.

Cseh A, Vásárhelyi B, Szalay B, Molnár K, <u>Nagy-Szakál D</u>, Treszl A, Vannay A, Arató A, Tulassay T, Veres G. (2011) Immune Phenotype of Children with Newly Diagnosed and Gluten-Free Diet-Treated Celiac Disease. Dig Dis Sci. 56(142): 792-8. **IF:2.26**

Vannay A, Sziksz E, Prókai A, Veres G, Molnár K, <u>Szakál DN</u>, Onódy A, Korponay-Szabó IR, Szabó A, Tulassay T, Arató A, Szebeni B. (2010) Increased expression of hypoxia inducible factor 1alpha in coeliac disease. Pediatr Res, 68(2): 118-22. **IF:2.67**

Himer L, Balog Á, Szebeni B, <u>Szakál DN</u>, Sziksz E, Reusz G, Tulassay T, Vannay Á. (2010) Role of Th17 cells in rheumatoid arthritis. Orvosi Hetilap, 151(25): 1003-10. (Review. Hungarian.)

<u>Szakál DN</u>, Gyorffy H, Arató A, Cseh A, Molnár K, Papp M, Dezsofi A, Veres G. (2010) Mucosal expression of claudins 2, 3 and 4 in proximal and distal part of duodenum in children with coeliac disease. Virchows Arch, 456(142): 245-250. **IF:2.68**

10.3 Book chapters of the author

<u>Nagy-Szakal D</u>, Kellermayer R, Harpavat S. The Gut Microbiome in the Nutrition-Infection Interaction: A Focus on Malnourished Children. Chapter 10 of Textbook: Nutrition-Infection Interaction and Impacts on Human Health. Editors: Pammi M, Vallejo JG and Abrams SA. CRC Press, 2014. ISBN 978-1-4665-8049-7 (Hard cover).

<u>Nagy-Szakál D</u>, Győrffy H, Müller KE, Molnár K, Vannay A, Sziksz E, Szebeni B, Papp M, Arató A, Veres G. Mucosal expression of claudins in celiac disease. Chapter 1 of the Textbook: Celiac Disease - From Pathophysiology to Advanced Therapies. Editors: Kruzliak P and Bhagat G. InTech, 2012. ISBN 978-953-51-0684-5 (Hard cover).

11 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The last few years that I have spent working on my thesis is a time that I will always remember fondly, filled with a lot of amazing and happy memories. The pathway of discovery is full of challenges, however this leads the way to an exciting and extraordinary journey. These life experiences have been very closely linked to a lot of fantastic people who work at the 1st Department of Pediatrics (Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary) and Texas Children's Hospital (Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas, USA).

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors Adam Vannay and Richard Kellermayer for supervision, encouragement and for all of their mentorship in shaping my project from start to finish.

I would like to express special appreciation and gratitude toward my advisor Adam Vannay for his support both during the first year of my PhD and at the completion. I learned many basic scientific methods and the process of complex thinking during his mentorship. I appreciate the support of Tivadar Tulassay and Andras Arato who provided a perfect working environment for me to extend my clinical and scientific knowledge. Special thanks also goes to all my coworkers at the Research Laboratory of 1st Department of Pediatrics, Semmelweis University.

I would like to express my utmost gratitude towards Richard Kellermayer, who has been the most supportive, encouraging, brilliant, creative and selfless mentor I could ever wish for. His encouraging attitude helped carry and support me through the beginning of my scientific carrier, and provided me a solid foundation for success. Being a clinical doctor and basic scientist, he taught me a complex and comprehensive way of thinking about scientific problems in a hospital environment, always focusing on the patients. I appreciate the opportunity he gave me to play an integral role in a cutting-edge study in which we were able to take bench-side research to a bed-side clinical trial, providing fecal microbiota transplantation for pediatric patients with recurrent Clostridium difficile infection and

ulcerative colitis. I also truly appreciate the faith and support of all the patients who were enrolled into our clinical studies.

I would like to specifically thank to the leaders of research at Baylor College of Medicine who supported my work: James Versalovic, Marc Gilger, Milton Finegold, Nina Tatevian, Emily Hollister, Joseph Petrosino, Rob Shulman, C Wayne Smith, Antone Opekun, Ruth Ann Luna and Douglas Burrin.

I am also incredibly grateful for the support from the Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition at Texas Children's Hospital, and my amazing coworkers, and best friends: Faith Ihekweazu and Sabina Mir.

I owe special thanks to Gabor Veres, who supported me from the beginning throughout my medical student years, and involved me in undergraduate research. This provided me with a strong base for my clinical and scientific carrier.

Last, but not least, I am forever grateful for my family, especially my beloved parents (Katalin and Ferenc Nagy Szakal) and my sister, Fanni Nagy Szakal who were always beside me during the difficult times and great discoveries. I would like to express my gratitude for all the support I received from my extended family, my loving grandmas (Zsoka Mihalyi and Ferencne Nagy Szakal), my always-curious brother-in-law (Matyas Buzogany), my god parents (Valeria and Lajos Polka); and all my friends in Budapest, Houston and in New York. You have cherished with me every great moment and supported me whenever I needed it.

I would like to dedicate my thesis to my grandfather, Gyorgy Mihalyi, who was a polyhistor of his era and shared with me his love of mathematics and science from the very beginning, and taught me to enjoy the challenge of discovery.

Finally, I would like to wish to all my readers SERENDIPITY, "the occurrence and development of events by chance in a happy and beneficial way". I was taught this word on my first day in Houston by my amazing mentor, and it has helped carry me throughout my postdoctoral research years.

99